

MASTERPROEF

Academiejaar 2021 – 2022

NATO AND THE CSTO IN AFGHANISTAN AND SYRIA: A NEO-REALIST AND CONSTRUCTIVIST ANALYSIS

Senne De Kort

Master in de Internationale Betrekkingen en Diplomatie

Promotor: dr. A. Calcara

Medebeoordelaar: Prof. dr. K. Verhoest

Masterproef voorgelegd met het oog op het behalen van de graad van Master in de Internationale Betrekkingen en Diplomatie

Studentnummer: 20212217

Abstract

In deze masterproef worden de drijfveren voor de betrokkenheid van de Noord-Atlantische Verdragsorganisatie (NAVO) en de Collectieve Veiligheidsverdragsorganisatie (CVVO) in Afghanistan en Syrië na 2001 geanalyseerd. Die analyse wordt uitgevoerd vanuit twee verschillende theoretische perspectieven: het neorealisme en het constructivisme. Uit de twee casestudies blijkt dat de betrokkenheid van de NAVO in de twee conflicten door zowel neorealistische als constructivistische drijfveren werd bepaald: de nood om het (voort)bestaan van het bondgenootschap te rechtvaardigen en om een collectieve identiteit te construeren, interne cohesie en Rusland, die de structuur van het internationale systeem tracht te wijzigen. Die drijfveren hebben de NAVO aangezet tot actieve militaire betrokkenheid in Afghanistan en weinig betrokkenheid in Syrië. Aan de andere kant ontbreekt het de CVVO aan effectiviteit, omdat de autoritaire lidstaten veel waarde hechten aan de principes van non-interventie en territoriale integriteit. Dat verklaart de passiviteit van de CVVO in Afghanistan en Syrië. Hoewel eerder onderzoek stelt dat de CVVO werd opgericht om de NAVO en het Westen te counteren, toont deze thesis echter aan dat dat niet het geval is.

Keywords: NATO, CSTO, neo-realism, constructivism, Afghanistan, Syria, regional security organisation

Table of Contents

Li	st of abbreviations	4
Fo	reword	5
1.	Introduction	6
2.	Regional security organisations: NATO and CSTO	9
	2.1 The North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO)	9
	2.2 The Collective Security Treaty Organization (CSTO)	12
3.	Theoretical framework: neo-realism and constructivism	14
	3.1 Neo-realism	15
	3.1.1 NATO: a neo-realist perspective	17
	3.1.2 CSTO: a neo-realist perspective	19
	3.2 Constructivism	20
	3.2.1 NATO: a constructivist perspective	21
	3.2.2 CSTO: a constructivist perspective	23
4.	Methodology	24
5.	Case studies: Afghanistan and Syria	26
	5.1 Afghanistan	26
	5.1.1 NATO in Afghanistan	28
	5.1.2 CSTO in Afghanistan	31
	5.1.3 Theories in practice	33
	5.2 Syria	34
	5.2.1 NATO in Syria	36
	5.2.2 CSTO in Syria	38
	5.2.3 Theories in practice	39
6.	Conclusion	41
7.	Bibliography	42

List of abbreviations

ANDSF Afghan National Defence and Security Forces

CAR Central Asian Republic

CIS Commonwealth of Independent States

CRRF Collective Rapid Reaction Force

CST Collective Security Treaty

CSTO Collective Security Treaty Organisation

EU European Union

EAPC Euro-Atlantic Partnership Council

FSA Free Syrian Army

IR International Relations

ISAF International Security Assistance Force

ISIS Islamic State of Iraq and Syria

NATO North Atlantic Treaty Organisation

NRC NATO-Russia Council

OEF Operation Enduring Freedom

PfP Partnership for Peace

R2P Responsibility to Protect

RSM Resolute Support Mission

SAA Syrian Arab Army

SCC Syrian Constitutional Committee

UK United Kingdom

UN United Nations

UNSC United Nations Security Council

US United States

Foreword

For the last couple of months, I have been working intensively on this master's thesis on regional security governance. What was once an unexplored domain for me, regional security governance has become a new interest of mine thanks to this thesis. I would not have been able to write this thesis without the following people.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my promotor dr. Antonio Calcara who provided me with useful and constructive feedback and eased my mind whenever I faced a problem. In addition to his profound knowledge of the topic, his kindness and relaxedness helped me to bring this thesis to a good end.

I would also like to thank my parents, who have given me life and love throughout the years, and my brothers. My family encouraged me to study the Master of International Relations and Diplomacy and to believe in myself. For that, I will always be grateful.

A great effort, such as this master's thesis, does not come without some relaxation from time to time. Thus, I would like to thank my friends that cleared my hand whenever it was full with NATO and the CSTO. Thanks to Marie, who often accompanied me in the library to work on our thesis together, after which we enjoyed some drinks in the sun. Also thank you to Margaux, Sieben, Rosalie, Dinara, Inne, and Stijn, who have been there for me during this year.

My last thanks go to the professors that taught me Russian at the Catholic University of Leuven during my bachelor's degree. They have further developed my interest and fascination for Russia and the former Soviet Union. In war times like these, I still believe that both diplomacy and insights into each other's culture can create a common language of peace. My ultimate professional goal is to speak that language of peace and eventually improve relations between Russia and the West.

1. Introduction

In January 2022, peacekeepers of the Collective Security Treaty Organisation (CSTO) were deployed to Kazakhstan at the request of Kazakh president Tokayev to help maintain order during anti-government mass protests against high energy prices (Vaal, 2022). After six days, the CSTO mission was said to be completed successfully and the troops had started to withdraw. This marks the very first time since the establishment of the CSTO in 1992 that the regional security organisation has deployed troops to a member state, albeit during a relatively short period of intervention (MackInnon, 2022). Also another regional security organisation is currently gaining widespread attention: the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation (NATO). Longstanding tensions between NATO and Russia have culminated on 24 February 2022, when Russia launched a large-scale invasion in Ukraine as a reaction to NATO expansion towards the east. For years, Moscow has warned that integrating Ukraine into the Alliance would be crossing a red line, and thus, Russia wants a guarantee that Ukraine would never enter NATO (Bilefsky et al., 2022). In the following months, long-time neutral states Sweden and Finland applied for NATO membership, upsetting Russia even more (Berlinger, 2022). Thus, as this master's thesis will examine both regional security organisations, this research contains a high relevance against the background of current events.

In order to deal with a wide variety of security threats, states develop regional security governance arrangements, i.e. a set of rules aiming at coordination, management, and regulation of security dossiers in a particular region (Adler & Greve, 2009). In the discipline of International Relations (IR), the realist and constructivist IR theories provide, among others, two different explanations for the creation of regional security governance. The realist school of thought is informed by balance-of-power mechanisms and constructivism by security communities. The balance-of-power theory argues that states create a regional security governance arrangement to prevent others from becoming the hegemon in a region, which would disturb the equilibrium of power in a specific region. According to constructivist theories, on the other hand, a group of states can have a sense of belonging to the same community because of a collective identity with shared norms, values, habits, etc. Moreover, if these states face the same security threats, the states have an incentive to create a regional security governance arrangement, thus creating a security community based on their collective identity (Adler & Barnett, 1998; Deutsch et al., 1957). However, there is not always a clear-cut distinction between these two different perspectives, as the creation and practices of regional

security organisations sometimes appear to be driven by both realist and constructivist factors (Adler & Greve, 2009).

Since the end of the Cold War and the subsequent power shift, the global security environment has drastically changed with regional security organisations gaining more importance. From a military point of view, the collapse of the Soviet Union changed the existing bipolar world order into a unipolar world dominated by the United States (US). However, the increasing influence of China and emerging countries, such as Brazil and India, and the decreasing legitimacy of multilateral institutions, such as the United Nations (UN), have challenged that unipolar world order (Weiffen et al., 2020, pp. 3-4). In addition to the changed polarity structure, Buzan & Wæver (2003, p. 19) consider the decolonisation process as another factor that explains the increasing scope of regional security organisations. After the Cold War, these newly independent states could organise themselves more freely in security matters because of the changed intensity and nature of the great powers' penetration into regional security governance arrangements. At the same time, the security agenda of regional security organisations changed in nature and scope, including now also a wide range of non-military and transnational issues (Buzan & Wæver, 2003, pp. 17-18). According to Wallander (2000), the adaptability of a regional security organisation to a changed security environment depends on both its general assets (e.g. decision-making and implementation procedures) and its specific assets (e.g. procedures of assurance, mediation, conflict prevention, and cooperative intervention). In addition to these differences in a regional security organisation's nature, also (mis)perceptions of the external world explain differences in the practices between regional security organisations (Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020, p. 287).

Logically, regional security organisations are usually involved in security matters within their own geographical space. But which driving factors account for their involvement outside their geographical space? This master's thesis aims to shed light on which driving factors explain the extent of NATO's and the CSTO's involvement outside their sphere of influence. Previous research has predominantly focused on NATO, while little academic research outside the post-Soviet space has been conducted on the CSTO. Only Guliyev & Gawrich (2020) have made a systematic comparison between NATO's and CSTO's reactions to secessionist conflicts in the post-Soviet space, but no one has done a comparative analysis of their involvement in conflicts outside the post-Soviet space. Thus, comparing the involvement of both organisations in conflicts out of the post-Soviet space is interesting. I will study the cases of Afghanistan and

Syria because no comparative analysis of these cases has been conducted yet. From the theoretical point of view, I will apply both the neo-realist and the constructivist perspective in both case studies.

This leads to the following research question: what are the driving factors for the extent of NATO's and the CSTO's involvement in the conflicts in Afghanistan and Syria after 2001? Both neo-realist and constructivist factors are expected to account for their involvement in the conflicts, and thus this research aims to compare the policy of NATO and CSTO in the two cases of Afghanistan and Syria from a neo-realist and constructivist perspective.

It is crucial to note that no comparative analysis between NATO and the CSTO in the conflicts in Afghanistan and Syria has been made thus far. Moreover, an explicit application of neorealism and constructivism to the CSTO is also absent in the existing literature. Thus, this master's thesis aspires to fill these theoretical gaps, as it proceeds as follows. The introduction of this master's thesis has introduced the topic and the objective of this thesis. Second, I will present an overview of the two regional security organisations – NATO and the CSTO. Third, the theoretical framework of this thesis, i.e. neo-realism and constructivism, will be provided. The fourth and fifth sections, the comparative analyses, will examine the involvement of the two regional security organisations in the two cases of Afghanistan and Syria. Finally, the conclusion discusses the findings and limitations of this thesis and suggests some avenues for future research.

2. Regional security organisations: NATO and CSTO

Before comparing the driving factors for both organisations' extent of involvement in the conflicts in Afghanistan and Syria, an overview of previous literature on NATO and the CSTO will be given.

2.1 The North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO)

In the aftermath of the Second World War, the North Atlantic Treaty Organization¹ was founded in 1949 to deal with the external communist threat coming from the Soviet Union (Herd et al., 2013, p. 17). In addition to the provision of military assistance to member states, were NATO's collective defence to be threatened, the military alliance also guarantees peace and security among its democratic member states. During the Cold War, NATO raised its organisational capacity by developing procedures for effective policymaking, military planning, and transparent information-sharing to favour mutual trust among member states (Wallander, 2000). Not only its high levels of organisational capacity and internal cohesion but also the high levels of political and economic development of NATO member states allowed NATO to become one of the most effective regional security organisations (Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020; Kirchner & Dominguez, 2013, p. 175).

Essentially, NATO is a collective defence organisation, expounded in Article 5 of the North Atlantic Treaty. Article 5 is based on Article 51 of the UN Charter, which acknowledges states' inherent right of individual or collective self-defence. When one NATO member is attacked, the armed attack is considered as an attack against all members, and thus, the treaty enables all member states to assist the attacked state to restore peace and security, including with the use of force (NATO, 1949). Such an armed reaction must be necessary, in that non-forceful measures have proven insufficient, and proportional to the initial attack (Schmitt, 2019, p. 115). Article 5 has been crucial for NATO members in East and Central Europe to guarantee their security and territorial integrity under the US nuclear umbrella against the USSR and Russia (Herd & Kriendler, 2013, p. 6). Since the terror attacks of 9/11, Article 5 holds for both states and non-state actors, such as terrorist organisations, and takes into account the unpredictability

⁻

¹ In 1949, the North Atlantic Treaty Organization originally consisted of "Belgium, Canada, Denmark, France, Iceland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, the United Kingdom, and the United States" (Herd et al., 2013, p. 17). Since then new members have joined NATO, such as "Greece and Turkey (1952), Germany (1955), Spain (1982), Czech Republic, Hungary, and Poland (1999), Bulgaria, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Romania, Slovakia, and Slovenia (2004), Albania and Croatia (2009), Montenegro (2017) and North Macedonia (2020)" (NATO, 2020a, para. 1).

of an attack, which has sparked a debate on NATO's right of anticipatory self-defence (Schmitt, 2019, pp. 107-109). As such, measures of collective defence and deterrence against extraregional aggressors are taken. Whereas collective defence organisations act against aggressors, collective security organisations include and integrate potential aggressors to maintain peace and security among member states (Weiffen et al., 2020, p. 6). For example, the Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe is a collective security organisation, since it includes all NATO member states and post-Soviet states.

Despite the Alliance's effective policymaking, the existence of NATO became to be questioned after the Cold War and the dissolution of the Soviet Union since it initially intended to deal with the Soviet threat (Herd & Kriendler, 2013, p. 7; Lippert, 2019, p. 50). Thus, the Alliance needed to adapt to the post-Soviet security environment to maintain its relevance and legitimacy (Holmberg, 2011; Lippert, 2019, p. 50). Relying on its organisational capabilities developed during the Cold War, NATO has undertaken several actions to deal with post-Soviet security challenges, such as weapons of mass destruction and nuclear weapons, international terrorism, unstable regimes in the Middle East, the power shift to East Asia, and cyber-attacks (Herd et al., 2013, p. 31; Herd & Kriendler, 2013, p. 10; Wallander, 2000). First, NATO started to focus more on the non-military dimension by installing diplomatic ties with post-Soviet states through the Euro-Atlantic Partnership Council (EAPC) and the Partnership for Peace² (PfP) programme (Wallander, 2000). The former serves as a multilateral political forum, whereas the latter deals with military practices, such as common military exercises, education and training, and military cooperation with partner countries, including all the former Soviet states (Pop, 2009; Wallander, 2000). Additionally, the NATO-Russia Council (NRC) was established to improve relations and enhance cooperation between NATO and Russia (Herd et al., 2013, p. 29). Second, the post-Cold War policy of NATO was characterised by enlargement to East and Central Europe, as the Cold War era indicates that integration reduces security risks (Wallander, 2000, p. 728). Gibler & Sewell (2006, p. 429) argue that the eastward expansion favoured the survival of the democracy in the new member states, but that the enlargement is perceived as a threat by Russia, stimulating an increase in military capacity and a centralisation of authority. Moreover, Guliyev & Gawrich (2020) argue that "membership aspirations of countries involved in conflicts was a driving factor for NATO's response" (p. 298) to outbreaks of war, as the Alliance provided support for aspiring members Georgia and Ukraine but not for Armenia

² The Partnership for Peace programme include all post-Soviet states, Austria, Finland, Ireland, Malta, Sweden, and Switzerland (NATO, 2020b).

during the Nagorno-Karabakh conflict with Azerbaijan. Third, NATO expanded its operational area to manage and prevent crises, and stabilise post-conflict situations outside NATO's geographical space, motivated by their threat to the security organisation's own security (Herd et al., 2013). Crisis management and prevention operations range "from combat and peacekeeping, to training and logistics support, to surveillance and humanitarian relief in Afghanistan, Kosovo, the Mediterranean, off the Horn of Africa and in Somalia" (Kirchner & Dominguez, 2013, p. 166).

The trans-Atlantic collective defence organisation has faced several challenges over the years. A major challenge for NATO was the exhaustive military operation in Afghanistan, which aimed to ensure political stability with the establishment of the International Security Assistance Force (ISAF) and develop local Afghan National Defence and Security Forces (ANDSF) (Lindley-French, 2013, p. 120). However, due to NATO's low-quality performance and campaign planning, a lack of cooperation with key civilian actors, and a lack of internal cohesion, NATO has failed to create a stable and sustainable end-state after its definite withdrawal in 2021 (Lindley-French, 2013; Politi & Manson, 2021). In addition, NATO's ambition was to implement a Western democratic political model in Afghan traditional society, but the Alliance ignored the fact that the Soviet Union tried in vain to reform Afghan society in the 1980s (Vestenskov & Wille-Jørgensen, 2014, p. 137). Another challenge for NATO are the internal disagreements between the US and the other member states. For example, there have been internal disagreements about burden-sharing: the US accuses the other members of not spending enough on defence (Herd et al., 2013, p. 31). Lindley-French (2013) states that "the political ambition of many NATO allies seemed to be [sic] to do just enough to keep the U.S. paying for much of Europe's parochial security and defense" (p. 121). European allies also doubt US commitment to NATO, especially under US President Donald Trump, as the US has shifted its policy towards the Indo-Pacific region (Herd et al., 2013, p. 31; Schmitt, 2019). Consequently, European leaders, such as French President Emmanuel Macron and German Chancellor Angela Merkel, have expressed the urgency for Europe to guarantee its own security because Europe can no longer solely rely on the US (Schnaufer II, 2021). Another factor that undermines the internal cohesion of NATO is member state Turkey. Chappell & Terlikowski (2012) list several instances when Turkey threatened to or effectively blocked consensus when its interests were not respected. The appointment of the new Secretary-General, the Danish Prime Minister Rasmussen, was initially opposed by Turkey because he was compromised by the cartoon controversy³ in Denmark. However, Turkey conceded in the end. Turkey has also been strongly opposed to a close EU-NATO partnership, as agreed on in the Berlin Plus agreement in 2002, since Cyprus, which is not recognised by Turkey, is an EU member. More recently, Turkey has opposed NATO membership for Finland and Sweden, unless the two Scandinavian states would extradite a group of alleged Kurdish terrorists (Yackley, 2022). Other challenges include NATO's image to the international community as an extension of US foreign policy, and different threat perceptions among the members (Herd et al., 2013, p. 31). Additionally, Holmberg (2011) suggests that NATO should take into account the values and opinions of local actors during interventions in a non-member state instead of mainly focusing on the efficiency of the operation to increase the organisation's legitimacy.

2.2 The Collective Security Treaty Organization (CSTO)

After the Cold War, the Warsaw Pact⁴ no longer existed, hence the absence of a regional security organisation in the Commonwealth of Independent States⁵ (CIS). In 1992, the Collective Security Treaty⁶ (CST) was signed to foster unity among the post-Soviet states after the dissolution of the Soviet Union, so the original purpose of the treaty was not to create a new collective security organisation, hence the CST's initial term of five years, but to face security and identity challenges in the region (Gleason & Dunay, 2022). Regional identity challenges relate to the fact that the newly independent post-Soviet states have always been under the rule of the Russian Empire or the Soviet Union, thus lacking any experience of political, economic and social independence and autonomous governance (Ballegeer, 2018). Moreover, the CST enabled Russia to secure its backyard against other states which tried to benefit from the collapse of the Soviet Union. Despite their shared Article 4 of collective defence in their founding treaties, Ballegeer (2018, p. 91) argues that it is crucial to note that the CSTO is not a

-

³ The then Danish Prime Minister Rasmussen defended the freedom of speech of the cartoonist who depicted the Prophet Muhammed with a bomb. Additionally, Denmark allowed a Kurdish TV station to broadcast in the country, which was opposed by Turkey. These events caused Turkey to initially block Rasmussen's appointment of NATO Secretary General (Chappell & Terlikowksi, 2012, p. 146).

⁴ The Warsaw Pact (1955-1991) was a military alliance of the Soviet Union and its satellite states, encompassing Albania, Bulgaria, Czechoslovakia, East Germany, Hungary, Poland, Romania and the Soviet Union. Some member states withdrew during this period (US Department of State, n.d.).

⁵ The Commonwealth of Independent States (°1991) is a regional organisation in the post-Soviet space which aims for economic, military and political integration. Currently, member states include "Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Moldova, Russia, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan" (Czerewacz-Filipowicz, 2017, p. 23). Although Turkmenistan and Ukraine were founding members in 1991, these states never ratified the treaty, and thus never became formal members of the organisation. Georgia withdrew from the organisation after the Russo-Georgian War in 2008 (Czerewacz-Filipowicz, 2017, pp. 19-23).

⁶ The Collective Security Treaty was initially signed by Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Russia, Tajikistan, and Uzbekistan, but later withdrawn from by Azerbaijan, Georgia and Uzbekistan (Pop, 2009, p. 282).

"Warsaw Pact 2.0". Whereas the Warsaw Pact was driven by a unifying communist ideology and by member states that had a high level of self-confidence and belief in their own capabilities, the CST was established out of necessity to react to the crisis following the collapse of the Soviet Union. Yet, from one view, the CST member states also have a common vision, which contains the authoritarian nature of their regimes, the principles of non-intervention and respect for territorial sovereignty.

Although the CST did not intend to create a permanent security organisation, the CST formed the base of the Collective Security Treaty Organisation (CSTO), which was founded in 2002. Current CSTO member states include "Armenia, Belarus, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Russia, and Tajikistan" (Weitz, 2018, p. xi). According to many scholars, it is no coincidence that the CSTO was established in 2002: it was a reaction to the US-NATO operation in Afghanistan, which increased Western presence in the whole Central Asian region (Jackson, 2014, pp. 181-182). The CSTO strives to deal with transnational security challenges, such as drug trafficking, religious extremism, illegal migration, and ethnic unrest (Kornilenko, 2020; Weitz, 2018, p. xi) and to maintain order and regional security by using military means, such as the organisation's Collective Rapid Reaction Force (CRRF) (Kropatcheva, 2016, p. 1533; Weitz, 2018, p. xi). To balance Russia to some extent, the Western-oriented regional organisation GUAM was founded in 1997 by Georgia, Ukraine, Azerbaijan, and Moldova⁷ (Allison, 2004, pp. 475-477). GUAM aimed to develop security strategies, including military and technical cooperation, and even a partnership with NATO. In practice, GUAM served mainly as a consultation forum and talks on military-technical cooperation were held bilaterally instead of within the multilateral framework of GUAM. Nevertheless, the regional grouping succeeded in achieving multilateral cooperation in energy and defence coordination matters (Allison, 2004, p. 477).

Although the CSTO's main mission is to provide security for its members, the CSTO's passivity towards the 2010 Kyrgyz crisis and the 2016 conflict in Nagorno-Karabakh between Armenia and Azerbaijan illustrates the organisation's lack of legitimacy and effectivity in decision- and policymaking, even when the security of a member state was at risk (Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020; Kropatcheva, 2016; Norberg, 2013, p. 35). Previous research has shed light on why the CSTO lacks legitimacy and efficiency. First, the organisational capacity of the CSTO is low, indicated

_

⁷ Between 1999 and 2002, GUAM was joined by Uzbekistan, changing the name to GUUAM. Uzbekistan left the organisation due to scepticism about multilateralism and the lack of any concrete security governance arrangements (Allison, 2004, p. 475).

by its low budget and personnel shortage (Allison, 2004, pp. 471; Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020, p. 298). Second, low levels of political and economic development of the member states are unfavourable for the organisation's efficiency (Kirchner & Dominguez, 2013, p. 174). Third, the authoritarian nature of the region's regimes and distrust among the member states inhibit security cooperation, since each member state looks after its own national interests (Kirchner & Dominguez, 2013, pp. 172-173; Kropatcheva, 2016, pp. 1547-1548; Norberg, 2013, p. 35). Consequently, the principles of sovereignty and non-intervention in domestic affairs are considered of paramount importance by the CSTO member states, explaining their restraint to intervene in other member states' domestic affairs (Kirchner & Dominguez, 2013, pp. 175-176). Fourth, it is argued that the CSTO merely legitimises Russian military actions, and thus increases Russian influence in the region, undermining the organisation's legitimacy on the international level (Norberg, 2013, p. 34; Weitz, 2018, p. xii). Finally, key players in the Central Asian region, such as Uzbekistan and Turkmenistan, are absent from the CSTO (Kornilenko, 2020).

Despite these shortcomings, the CSTO has the potential to become a crucial player in the region. Kornilenko (2020) argues that CSTO would be able to cooperate with the UN and even with the EU if it made a shift from military to humanitarian operations. Moreover, the CSTO's knowledge and experience in the Central Asian region make it a useful partner for NATO to interact with, but that is only possible when relations between NATO and Russia improve (Norberg, 2013, p. 36; Weitz, 2018, p. xiii). Kropatcheva (2016) states that Russia's desire for unilateralism – through "geopolitical power projection, constraining/binding others, and legitimating its regional role vis-à-vis other external actors" (p. 1545) – undermines the organisation's legitimacy, hence the need for a stronger multilateral framework.

3. Theoretical framework: neo-realism and constructivism

This master's thesis applies the neo-realist and constructivist theories to the driving factors for NATO's and the CSTO's involvement in Afghanistan and Syria after 2001. This section will first give a brief account of neo-realism in general, after which the theory will be applied to NATO and the CSTO. Then, the same will be done for constructivism. It should be mentioned that none of the theories on their own can explain the organisations' practices by themselves, but should be complemented with each other to construct a complete overview. Moreover, other IR theories, such as liberalism and institutionalism, could be chosen, but this thesis has chosen

neo-realism and constructivism since they provide two distinct and conceptually cohesive explanations for the degree of involvement of NATO and the CSTO in Afghanistan and Syria.

3.1 Neo-realism

Before elaborating on neo-realism, an overview of realism in general is provided. The realist theory consists of four key assumptions, which are accepted by all the different schools within realism: statism, anarchy in the international system, survival, and self-help (Dunne & Schmidt, 2014, p. 107; Hyde-Price, 2016). First, statism relates to the idea that unitary states are the main actors in the international system and act rationally to guarantee their power and security in the anarchic international system. According to Levy (2002), in such an international system there is an "absence of a legitimate governmental authority to regulate disputes and enforce agreements between states or other actors" (pp. 352-353). Because there is no overarching authority over the states, the survival of a state is always at risk, and thus, the survival of the state is the most important national interest of every state, either achieved through power or security maximisation. By relying on themselves and their own resources, states can guarantee their survival and engage in the practice of self-help.

Classical realists, such as Morgenthau, argue that human nature and the domestic organisation of states mainly account for the importance of accumulating power in international politics, and explain instances of fear, war, and competition among states (Dunne & Schmidt, 2014, p. 104; Hyde-Price, 2016, p. 44). On the other hand, neo-realists claim that the structure of the international system explains international politics. Waltz (1979) has developed a threefold definition of an international structure, consisting of the organising principle, the functions of differentiated units, and the distribution of capabilities. For one, he postulates that anarchy is the organising principle of the structure since an overarching authority remains absent. Second, states are considered as like units, hence their functional equality. Third, whereas states are functionally equal, the distribution of capabilities among states is asymmetric, which determines the distribution of power in the international system. Thus, especially a change in the distribution of material power can alter the structure of the international system. For example, the decline of a great power can change a bipolar international system into a unipolar system. Although neo-realists agree that the structure of the international system explains states' behaviour, there is disagreement between defensive realists and offensive realists about whether states seek power or security. Both defensive and offensive realists share the abovementioned realist assumptions, but they provide different explanations for great powers' behaviour. Defensive realists argue that states are security maximisers, in that they do not challenge the status quo as long as their own security is guaranteed (Levy, 2002, p. 354). To ensure their survival, states need a certain amount of power, but they do not aspire to maximise their relative power in order to become hegemons. Such power-maximising behaviour would create a security dilemma among states: the more one state invests in military means for defensive purposes, the more this military build-up will be perceived as a security threat by other states due to distrust among states. As a reaction, the other states will also increase their military expenses, which, paradoxically, leads to a cycle of insecurity: "one's state quest for security is often another state's source of insecurity" (Dunne & Schmidt, 2014, p. 109). On the other hand, offensive realists rather believe that states handle their own interests and are cautious of other states' actions. Thus, in this system of constant competition, states are prepared to take every opportunity to maximise their power at the expense of other states in order to ensure their survival, thus challenging the status quo (Dunne & Schmidt, 2014, pp. 105-106).

Concerning cooperation, realists argue that the problem of relative gains impedes cooperation between states since one state is concerned that the other state could gain more from the cooperation, thus gaining power (Müller, 2002, p. 371). However, realists argue that states can overcome the problem of relative gains by forming alliances and coalitions, only if two or more states face a common security threat (Ratti, 2009, pp. 411-412). As such, defensive realists draw on the balance of power theory, which posits that cooperation is possible when a group of states "build up their arms and form alliances to balance against those who constitute the primary threats to their interests and particularly against any state which threatens to secure a hegemonic position over the system" (Levy, 2002, pp. 354-355). For example, NATO was established to balance the Soviets, who responded in their turn by forming the Warsaw Pact to balance NATO. Thus, both military alliances aimed to prevent the other from acquiring a hegemonic status in the European continent (Dunne & Schmidt, 2014, p. 101). Alternatively, states can also enter a hegemon-led alliance to guarantee their security, i.e. bandwagoning, thus gaining from cooperation with the hegemon (Müller, 2002, p. 371).

3.1.1 NATO: a neo-realist perspective

This section applies the neo-realist theory to the development of NATO in the context of a changing international structure since the end of the Cold War. During the Cold War, the bipolar international security structure with the US and the Soviet Union competing against each other gave West European countries the incentive to form NATO with the US as hegemon to face the common threat of the Soviet Union. The two rivalling blocs conducted a containment policy to prevent the other from expanding its sphere of influence and achieving a hegemonic status. Thus, neo-realists argue that the existence of NATO is justified by the bipolar international structure (Herd & Kriendler, 2013, pp. 4-5).

However, the end of the Cold War and the collapse of the Soviet Union changed the bipolar international structure into a US-dominated unipolar world order. Whereas the Warsaw Pact ceased to exist, NATO was kept in place despite the absence of a common external security threat. This sparked a debate on whether NATO should cease to exist or not. Neo-realists argued that the absence of a common security threat makes balancing unnecessary, and thus would eventually cause the break-up or irrelevance of the Alliance (Ratti, 2009, p. 412). Yet, NATO continued to exist because the Alliance's survival was in the best interest of the most powerful member states since it helped to maximise their power and influence in the global unipolar world order (Hyde-Price, 2016; Spassov, 2014). For the US, NATO serves as a platform to maintain good relations with US allies in Europe and to consolidate US leadership, while NATO guarantees security and protection for the European member states (Spassov, 2014).

In his neo-realist analysis of NATO, Hyde-Price (2016) distinguishes two tendencies in the distribution of power in post-Cold War Europe: the continuing dominance of the US and the weakening transatlantic relations. First, he argues that the US considers NATO as an "important instrument with which it can exert influence in Europe, set limits to the emergence of an independent and autonomous EU security and defence policy and build alliances around American leadership for addressing shared security concerns" (p. 42). In addition, the changed international structure after the collapse of the Soviet Union gives the US and its allies the possibility to expand its influence in post-communist states and beyond without high costs and risks. According to this view, the Clinton administration took this possibility and developed a twofold power maximisation policy for NATO: first, NATO enlargement in post-communist East European states, and second, non-Article 5 military crisis management operations beyond NATO's geographical space. NATO enlargement to include former Soviet states and allies is

perceived by Moscow as a loss of influence and a disrupted balance of power, especially after the Bucharest summit of 2008, during which also Georgia and Ukraine were offered NATO membership (Ratti, 2009, p. 413). Hyde-Price (2016) states that not only NATO enlargement but also the crisis management operations outside NATO space have caused frictions since they are perceived as NATO's intention to alter the status quo. For example, NATO's mission in the Balkan during the 1990s has been considered by Russia as "an offensive military operation against a sovereign state" (Hyde-Price, 2016, p. 42). According to several academics, this twofold power maximisation policy has undermined NATO-Russia relations and has contributed to an unstable peace in Europe, exacerbated by aggressive Russian reactions to regain power and influence, such as the Russo-Georgian war in 2008, the annexation of Crimea in 2014, the recognition of the Donetsk People's Republic and the Luhansk People's Republic as independent, and the subsequent invasion in Ukraine in 2022 (Hopkins & Kramer, 2022; Sauer, 2016, p. 7). However, the re-emergence of Russia and the subsequent shifting power balance repurposed NATO because it provided an international structure, in which the collective defence under Article 5 against Russia became relevant again, and thus justified the existence and survival of NATO (Hyde-Price, 2016). Second, Hyde-Price (2016) observes weakening transatlantic relations between the US and its European allies. After the Cold War, not all NATO members were keen on the American aspirations to engage in crisis management operations beyond NATO territory and they attached more importance to the principle of collective defence under Article 5. For example, the war in Iraq in 2003 divided NATO into two camps with countries, such as Denmark, the United Kingdom (UK), Spain, and Portugal supporting the US invasion and others, such as France and Germany, opposing it. This reluctance by some European allies spurred aspirations to develop an autonomous European defence pillar: on the one hand, the US conceived this as a threat to US leadership in NATO, but on the other hand, a European defence pillar could enhance the burden-sharing problem.

In sum, neo-realism postulates that NATO has been shaped by structural factors of the international system, such as the decline and re-emergence of Russia. The post-Cold War era has shown that NATO's internal cohesion is weakened when a common security threat is absent and that cost-benefit analyses of powerful NATO member states have determined NATO's development (Hyde-Price, 2016). From a neo-realist perspective, I formulate the following hypothesis for NATO's involvement in the conflicts of Afghanistan and Syria after 2001: NATO is driven by its objectives to maintain its relative power in the anarchic international

system and to ensure the survival of the Alliance by facing a new common security threat, to become actively involved in Afghanistan and Syria (H1).

3.1.2 CSTO: a neo-realist perspective

In the IR literature, little attention has been devoted to an explicit application of IR theories to the CSTO. Thus, this section will explicitly apply the neo-realist theory to the CSTO, drawing on existing research. In general, neo-realism distinguishes two tendencies for the CSTO's existence: external and internal factors. Externally, it is often assumed that the CSTO was founded because of balance of power dynamics, namely to balance NATO and its enlargement (Greene, 2012, p. 9; Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020). After the Cold War and the collapse of the Soviet Union, Russia lost its relative power in the international system, while NATO started expanding east towards the borders of Russia. By founding the CSTO in 2002, Russia sought to restore its sphere of influence and "to mark a new red line for Russia's vital interests and to counterbalance the second round of NATO enlargement" (Greene, 2012, p. 9). Moreover, the transformation of the CST into a formal organisation came after 9/11 and the subsequent Western arrival in Afghanistan, and thus aimed to balance the Western military presence in the region (Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020, p. 290).

Internally, the CSTO is dominated by Russian hegemony, since Russia considers the CSTO as a foreign policy tool to pursue its interests, namely to exert power and influence in its direct neighbourhood and to balance NATO. On the other hand, the smaller CSTO states bandwagon with Russia for two reasons. First, they are afraid to lose sovereignty to Russia, and thus, the CSTO provides legitimacy for the survival of the state in the anarchic international system and of their authoritarian regime (Allison, 2004, p. 469; Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020, p. 290). Second, they profit from public goods, such as security and economic advantages, which the regional hegemon Russia provides to them (Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020, p. 290). However, this does not mean that the other CSTO member states always support Russia's unilateral actions. In fact, except for Belarus, they rarely fully support Russia's actions, such as the Russo-Georgian War and the annexation of Crimea (Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020). More recently, most Central Asian Republics (CARs) have remained silent on the Russian invasion of Ukraine (Sukhankin, 2022).

From a neo-realist perspective, the driving factors for CSTO's involvement in Afghanistan and Syria can be hypothesised as follows: the CSTO is driven by the bloc's objective to balance

Western military presence and Russia's aim to increase its influence through the CSTO, to become involved in the conflict in Afghanistan but not in Syria since Syria has never belonged to Russia's sphere of influence (H2).

3.2 Constructivism

During the Cold War, the study of IR was mainly dominated by realist and liberalist theories. Despite some differences, both theories are based on common assumptions: rational states are the main actors and act in their own interest in the anarchic international structure, which urges states to engage in self-help practices, and the interests and identities of states are exogenously determined (Mansbach & Taylor, 2018, pp. 27-28; Wendt, 1992, pp. 391-392). Dissatisfied with realist and liberalist accounts, a new IR theory, namely constructivism, emerged around the end of the Cold War. Constructivism argues that reality, including actors' identities and interests, is not exogenously given, which realists and liberalists claim, but socially constructed as a result of an ongoing intersubjective process of interaction between actors (Flockhart, 2016). During this social process, actors' interests, identities, norms, and beliefs evolve, thus also refuting the realist and liberal focus on the nondynamic structure of the international system (Mansbach & Taylor, 2018, p. 21). In this view, the socially constructed reality forms actors' perceptions, which determine actors' behaviour and interests in the international structure (Flockhart, 2016). Relatedly, this structure is not only defined in the material sense but also in the ideational sense, taking into account norms, rules, ideas, history, culture, and identity (Acharya, 2008, p. 73; Mansbach & Taylor, 2018, p. 21). Research by Wendt (1992) counters the argument that the self-help system is the result of the anarchic structure of the international system. In the following excerpt, Flockhart (2016) provides the constructivist definition of the self-help system based on Wendt's research:

Self-help and power politics do not follow logically from anarchy because self-help is not a structural feature as suggested by Waltz (1979: 111), but an institution based on particular inter-subjective understandings about Self and Other that are reinforced through the practice of agents. This argument stresses, above all, the importance of shared knowledge: people act towards objects (including other people) on the basis of the meanings the object (or person) has for them. (p. 143)

Therefore, enemies are treated differently than friends since enemies are perceived as a security threat (Flockhart, 2016, p. 143). For example, the US will behave differently towards North Korea and the UK, both owning nuclear weapons, because the UK is a US ally, whereas North Korea is an enemy.

Constructivism postulates that a group of actors can constitute a collective identity, based on common ideational factors, which fosters a stable peace and can overcome the security dilemma (Adler & Barnett, 1998). Through shared symbols, norms, values, institutions, and myths, actors develop their collective identity (Barnett & Adler, 1998). A collective identity builds such trust among actors, that they will not fight each other with military means to resolve a conflict, but will use peaceful means (Barnett & Adler, 1998). This creates the base for a security community, which Deutsch et al. (1957) define as a community "in which there is real assurance that the members of that community will not fight each other physically, but will settle their disputes in some other way" (p. 5). Yet, Barnett & Adler (1998) identify some main concerns about a security community. First, although states in a security community no longer use military means, they can still settle their disputes through non-military means, such as economic or judicial means. Second, some states in the security community may not be able to uphold the collective identity of the community. For example, Poland ruled in 2021 that some EU laws were incompatible with Poland's constitution, thereby breaking away from the collective identity of the European Union (Henley & Rankin, 2021).

3.2.1 NATO: a constructivist perspective

This section depicts NATO from a constructivist perspective, providing an alternative explanation for the Alliance's existence to the above-given neo-realist account of NATO. From a constructivist point of view, NATO can be defined as "a specialized organization—the "military branch"—of the Euro-Atlantic or Western community of liberal-democratic and multilateralist values and norms" (Schimmelfennig, 1998, p. 198). As explained above, these values and norms construct a group's collective identity, which strengthens the incentive for cooperation. Flockhart (2016, pp. 143-144) finds that NATO's primary collective identity during the Cold War was constructed by a common security threat, i.e. the Soviet Union and the Warsaw Pact, thus constituting a 'defence alliance identity'. However, after the collapse of the Soviet Union and the consequent removal of the shared security threat, the defence alliance went through an identity crisis, making the former collective 'defence alliance identity' difficult to uphold. Thus, NATO had to construct a new collective identity to justify its survival: the 'partner identity' with a focus on cooperative practices, such as partnerships, enlargement, and crisis management operations (Flockhart, 2016, p. 144). At the same time, NATO aimed to handle a broader range of security challenges originating from social, economic, and political conflicts, such as ethnic and territorial disputes (NATO, 1991). By 2010, NATO had developed the narrative of a threefold identity, consisting of "a provider of collective defence, a socialising agent of democratic norms and an agent of multilateral [crisis management] operations" (Flockhart, 2016, p. 148). Therefore, it is argued that the survival of NATO after the Cold War was possible because of its easily adaptable collective identity based on a cohesive narrative of common values and democratic practices, and a sense of shared history and destiny (Flockhart, 2016; Sjursen, 2004; Williams & Neumann, 2000). Relatedly, Böller (2018, pp. 223-224) finds that NATO has faced difficulties in defining its collective identity after the Cold War because of various threat perceptions and opinions on NATO's core tasks. On the one hand, a member state's threat perception depends on, inter alia, historical experiences and geographical proximity to Russia. Thus, new Central and East European member states perceive Russia's threat as imminent, while others do not. On the other hand, when defining NATO, the Alliance balances between collective defence and collective security as its core tasks, although newer members prefer to focus on regional collective defence against Russia to global collective security operations (Böller, 2018). As such, Central and East European member states considered the Ukraine crisis in 2014 as an opportunity to make NATO a pure regional collective defence alliance again.

Although it is often proclaimed that the Alliance is based on democratic and liberal values, as stated in the preamble of the Alliance's founding document, the Washington Treaty of 1949, Sjursen (2004) rejects this notion of NATO as a democratic community since the Alliance prioritise security over democratic governance within the Alliance. This argument is enforced by the absence of a democratic mandate and a cosmopolitan law to justify NATO's practices. Thus, she refutes the assumption that NATO's alleged democratic collective identity strengthened democracy in Central and East European member states and postulates that values linked to shared experiences and history rather account for this political evolution in Central and Eastern Europe.

With regard to NATO's eastward enlargement, Schimmelfennig (1998) argues that Central and East European countries have sought NATO membership because they want to identify themselves with the West by sharing NATO's norms and values. At the same time, NATO's incentive to expand into Central and East Europe was the Alliance's objective to reinforce liberal democracy and multilateralism and to provide sustainable peace in the region. Crucial in this enlargement process has been the PfP programme, as it provides a platform to cooperate with aspiring member states and other partners, including all the post-Soviet states.

Consequently, NATO obtained the power to offer former communist countries a security community as an alternative to Russia, to the latter's great dissatisfaction (Williams & Neumann, 2000). NATO's evolution presented Russia with a policy dilemma between either tolerating or contesting NATO enlargement. Based on "fears of being overtaken by Western economic and political models, and its historical experience of military and political intervention" (Williams & Neumann, 2000, p. 386), Russia has perceived the enlargement as a security threat and thus has chosen the policy of contesting NATO enlargement to protect the country's self-constructed national interests.

Therefore, the constructivist theory can formulate the following hypothesis for the research question: NATO is driven by its objective to spread liberal norms and values and the need to construct a collective identity for the Alliance, to become actively involved in Afghanistan and Syria (H3).

3.2.2 CSTO: a constructivist perspective

Just as with the neo-realist analysis of the CSTO, research that explicitly applies the constructivist theory to the CSTO is scarce. Therefore, based on existing literature on the CSTO, this section will make constructivist elements of the organisation more explicit. From a constructivist perspective, the CSTO builds on the historical legacies of the Soviet Union and shared norms and values (Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020; Jackson, 2014; Nikitina, 2012), such as "priority to regime security, desire to preserve distinct political and cultural values, and comparatively strong support of non-intervention and traditional Westphalian sovereignty" (Jackson, 2014, p. 200). These norms are widespread in the post-Soviet member states, but CSTO membership is also open to any other country that shares the CSTO's principles as stated in the CSTO Charter. As such, Iran has been invited to join the CSTO because of the country's common norms and values, even though the country has never been in the Soviet sphere of influence (Jackson, 2014, p. 188).

However, the CSTO lacks a clear collective identity to give purpose to its existence and operations. Kornilenko (2020) argues that the CSTO is going through an identity crisis because the organisation is unable to identify its place and role in the global security system. Additionally, member states, especially the CARs, have distinct perceptions of their role in the vast region, which undermines a common feeling of belonging to the same geographical space

(Jackson, 2014, pp. 182-183). These different national identities are related to religion and pre-Soviet history, since the CARs have Islamic, Christian, and Confucian influences, and have had ties with India, Iran, Pakistan, and Afghanistan. For example, Kazakhstan perceives itself as the leader of Central Asia, whereas Islamic Tajikistan has more interests in South Asia, and Christian Russia and Belarus are more oriented towards Europe. Thus, the CSTO fails to create a unifying ideology that could provide an incentive for the member states to participate in CSTO activities and to further institutionalise the security organisation (Nikitina, 2012, p. 51). This explains the ineffectiveness of and disunity within the CSTO. Therefore, the lack of a clear collective identity and ideology contrasts with Western organisations, as Nikitina (2012) states: "NATO and the EU have what the CSTO does not: a *mission*" (p. 51).

From a constructivist perspective, I expect that the CSTO is driven by the lack of a clear-cut collective identity to give purpose to the organisation's operations and by the bloc's principle of non-intervention, not to be involved in both Afghanistan and Syria (H4).

4. Methodology

With regards to the data analysis, this master's thesis uses process tracing. This qualitative research method explains the intermediate steps of a causal process over time, i.e. causal mechanisms, by describing the dependent, independent, and intervening variables which have led to the outcome (Checkel, 2008; Collier, 2011; George & Bennett, 2005). In this thesis, the outcome is the involvement of NATO and the CSTO. To carry out process tracing adequately, a thorough description of the sequence of events, prior knowledge and well-formulated hypotheses are crucial (Collier, 2011, pp. 823-824). This prior knowledge has already been provided in the sections on NATO and the CSTO and more background information on Afghanistan and Syria will be given in the following sections. Data gathered from primary sources, such as official statements and resolutions, and secondary sources, such as newspaper articles and academic papers, is examined in the light of the hypotheses for the following research question:

What are the driving factors for the extent of NATO's and the CSTO's involvement in the conflicts in Afghanistan and Syria after 2001?

To answer this question, it is important to have a clear understanding of what 'involvement' means. In this thesis, 'involvement' ranges from non-action and political statements of (non-)support to material supplies and large-scale military assistance. In the previous paragraphs on neo-realism and constructivism, I have formulated four hypotheses for the involvement of NATO and the CSTO from each theoretical perspective. For convenience sake, I will list these hypotheses below.

Neo-realist hypotheses

- H1. NATO is driven by its objectives to maintain its relative power in the anarchic international system and to ensure the survival of the organisation by facing a new common security threat, to become actively involved in Afghanistan and Syria.
- H2. The CSTO is driven by the bloc's objective to balance Western military presence and Russia's aim to increase its influence through the CSTO, to become involved in the conflict in Afghanistan but to a lesser extent in Syria since Syria has never belonged to Russia's sphere of influence.

Constructivist hypotheses

- H3. NATO is driven by its objective to spread liberal norms and values and the need to construct a collective identity for the Alliance, to become actively involved in Afghanistan and Syria.
- H4. The CSTO is driven by the lack of a clear-cut collective identity to give purpose to the organisation's operations and by the bloc's principle of non-intervention, not to be involved in both Afghanistan and Syria.

As the research will be carried out from two distinct theoretical perspectives, one can speak of theoretical triangulation, which increases the internal validity of this thesis. Concerning the data collection, I use academic databases, such as Limo, Google Scholar, and UAntwerp Library, databases from NATO, the CSTO, and the UN, and search results of Google and Yandex, a Russian web browser. It is important to note that finding relevant research on the CSTO is challenging since the existing literature on the CSTO is already scarce and most sources are in Russian. However, one should not be biased about these Russian sources since coloured sources have been avoided. Thanks to my academic background in studying the Russian language, I have used Russian sources and can now thus be consulted in this master's thesis. By consulting academic literature, official statements and high-quality newspaper articles, this research can

thus be considered credible and reliable. In addition, this data triangulation also increases the validity of this thesis.

In a comparative case-study research design, I will test the realist and constructivist perspectives on the driving factors for the extent of NATO's and the CSTO's involvement in Afghanistan and Syria. Due to a small-N case design, the results of this thesis should not be generalised groundlessly, because every conflict has its own unique variables.

5. Case studies: Afghanistan and Syria

5.1 Afghanistan

Before NATO's and the CSTO's involvement in Afghanistan is elaborated on, I will first provide an overview of the key events in the Afghan War since 2001. For this overview, I mainly draw upon a timeline of the Afghan War (1999-2021) created by the independent organisation, the Council on Foreign Relations (n.d.), unless another source is cited.

The Soviet withdrawal in 1989 ended the decade-long Soviet-Afghan War and was succeeded by a period of anarchy, which culminated in the Taliban regime coming into power in 1996. Moreover, the radical Islamist fundamentalism of Al-Qaeda gained influence throughout the post-Cold War period and aimed to install a global jihad (Garey, 2020). Although both Al-Qaeda and the Taliban were already before 2001 treated with scrutiny by the international community because of their terrorist nature, the situation fundamentally changed after the US terror attacks on 9/11, which caused the death of almost three thousand people. This marks the most deadly terror attack in history (FBI, 2016) and incentivised the US to militarily topple the Taliban regime in Afghanistan because the Taliban refused to extradite the leader of Al-Qaeda, Osama Bin Laden, who resided in the country. From the US perspective, regimes that create a safe haven for terrorists are terrorists themselves (Katzman & Thomas, 2017). Consequently on 7 October 2001, former US President George W. Bush started Operation Enduring Freedom (OEF) in Afghanistan by launching airstrikes on Al-Qaeda and Taliban forces in collaboration with the anti-Taliban Northern Alliance. By December 2001, the Taliban was defeated and various Afghan factions, except for the Taliban, signed the Bonn Agreement, which installed an interim Afghan government led by Hamid Karzai and outlined the creation of the International Security Assistance Force (ISAF) for peacekeeping operations. Now that the Taliban had been overthrown, the US started engaging in state-building practices, providing humanitarian aid, and focusing on the economic and democratic reconstruction of the country. In August 2003, the leadership of ISAF was transferred from the UN to NATO, marking it the organisation's first extra-European operation, and overall responsibility for ISAF was attributed to NATO in 2006 (Garey, 2020, p. 108). ISAF was provided with troops from 42 countries, including all NATO member states, to maintain state security and to train Afghan security forces. However, as violence resurged across Afghanistan in 2006, NATO member states disagreed on burden-sharing, in that the US reproached other allies for not being enough committed to sharing in costs and risks. Meanwhile, the war on terror had divided US focus and resources between Afghanistan and Iraq, making the US transfer military capacity to the new front.

Under the influence of newly elected US President Obama, international commitment to Afghanistan was reinforced in 2009, as the US and its NATO allies increased troops deployment to assist and train the Afghan forces and to counter the resurging violence. At the same time, Obama set a timeframe for a withdrawal of all US combat troops by 2014 and NATO announced the end of ISAF by the same year, urging the Afghan authorities to become more independent for the provision of national security. This marked the end of ISAF, while NATO launched the Resolute Support Mission (RSM) to train and assist the Afghan National Defence and Security Forces (ANDSF) (NATO, 2021). However, it was doubted whether the Afghan forces were able to provide national security amid rising tensions, and thus, the US extended its military presence in the country. In the following years, not only the Taliban regained influence but also the Islamic State, which invoked a new violent period with bombings and terror attacks in Afghanistan. Simultaneously, diplomatic peace talks between the US and the Taliban reached in 2020 an agreement, which consists of the drawdown of US troops and the Taliban's promise not to use Afghanistan for terrorist activities. In addition, intra-Afghan talks between the ruling Afghan authorities and the Taliban had to be held to discuss a peaceful post-US Afghanistan. Consequently, US President Biden announced in 2021 a complete withdrawal of all US troops by 11 September 2021. As US troops were withdrawing, the Taliban rapidly advanced across the country after the ruling president Ghani had left the country, which allowed the Taliban regime to take over control of the country. At the end of August 2021, the last US forces left Afghanistan, marking the end of the two-decades-long war, while the Taliban ruled Afghanistan both at the start and the end of the war. Since the new Taliban regime, women's rights have been violated (Zucchino & Akbary, 2022) and the humanitarian and economic situation has worsened partly due to US sanctions (Goldbaum, 2021).

5.1.1 NATO in Afghanistan

To explain the extent of NATO's involvement in Afghanistan, it is crucial to trace the variables which affected the evolution of the Alliance's presence in the country. Three phases of involvement can be distinguished in NATO's mission to Afghanistan: support for US actions (2001-2003), growing involvement (2003-2009), and gradual drawdown (2009-2021).

Immediately after the terrorist attacks of 9/11, the US received widespread support from the international community. The UN Security Council (UNSC) condemned the attacks and reaffirmed the US's "inherent right of individual or collective self-defence" (UNSC, 2001, para. 4), and even Russia, the rival of the US during the Cold War, offered cooperation in intelligence-sharing and allowed the US access to Russian airspace and military facilities in Tajikistan (Glasser, 2001). In addition, NATO invoked for the first time since its foundation Article 5 of the North Atlantic Treaty, which states that "the Parties agree that an armed attack against one or more of them in Europe or North America shall be considered an attack against them all" (NATO, 1949). Despite this international political support, the US was during this first phase not eager for NATO to be involved in its military campaign in Afghanistan and thus preferred unilateral action by launching OEF. Three plausible driving factors can be discerned for the US reluctance to involve NATO. First, the US aimed to take immediate action to meet short-term military goals, such as the collapse of the Taliban regime and combatting Al-Qaeda. In the case of a multilateral coalition with NATO, the US mission would have been constrained in time and efficiency (Kreps, 2011, p. 112; Sipress & Finn, 2001). Second, the US did not want to repeat NATO's 1999 mission to Kosovo, which exposed the Alliance's lack of internal cohesion and capability to protect the local population (Garey, 2020, p. 96; Human Rights Watch, 2004). Third, most NATO members would have been unable to provide the necessary military capabilities for the mission because many NATO member states cut back on the defence budget after the Cold War (Simon, 2009, p. 53). Therefore, the US kept the Alliance on the sidelines during the first phase, while only the UK directly assisted the US in combat against the Taliban and other allies bilaterally supplied the US with military material (Garey, 2020, p. 96). As such, the US initially benefited from the widespread international support to legitimise OEF. However, as the Taliban regime was overthrown in December 2001, the US had achieved its short-term security goals but had thus far not considered the long-term statebuilding practices after the Taliban (Kreps, 2011, p. 112). By 2003, Afghanistan's national security had deteriorated despite US military presence and the legitimacy of the OEF had decreased, especially after the invasion of Iraq (Berdal, 2016).

This marks the beginning of the second phase of NATO's involvement in the Afghan War, namely a period of the Alliance's increasing involvement. To involve NATO in Afghanistan became more useful for the US because the Alliance could ensure continued legitimacy for the OEF at a moment when the mission's legitimacy was decreasing, engage in state-building practices, and contribute resources to the US, such as intelligence and troops (Berdal, 2016). In August 2003, the command of ISAF was handed over from the UN to NATO to overcome disagreement over ISAF leadership. Initially, ISAF was tasked with security provision in and around the capital Kabul, but ISAF's mandate was extended by the UNSC to cover the whole territory of Afghanistan, which was ultimately achieved by 2006 (NATO, 2021). Having deployed 36,000 troops by the same time, the NATO-led ISAF took command over 25 Provincial Reconstruction Teams (Garey, 2020, p. 107), i.e. multinational groupings with both civilian and military actors that "are designed to assist the host nation in developing its governance capacity, improve its security sector and cooperate in reconstruction and development of the infrastructure" (Bebber, 2008, p. 16). This implied that the US could attribute more resources to its combat operations, whereas NATO focused more on long-term humanitarian and state-building objectives. This is also reflected in the memoirs of former US Secretary of Defence Robert Gates: "The approach favored by the Europeans, however, looked a lot like nation-building, the work of decades in Afghanistan and not the kind of mission accomplished in the middle of war" (Gates, 2014, p. 203). In addition, NATO developed the post of the NATO Senior Civilian Representative in Afghanistan in 2003, whose task was to stimulate the political development of Afghanistan (NATO, 2022). At the 2006 NATO summit in Riga, NATO pledged to continue its reconstruction and development efforts, focusing on democratic institutions, security provision, and training of the Afghan National Army (NATO, 2009). Moreover, the Alliance's unity and solidarity with the Afghan people were highlighted in the closing press conference at the Riga summit by NATO Secretary General de Hoop Scheffer: "There was a clear commitment by all twenty-six NATO Allies that in an emergency [...], they will support each other" (de Hoop Scheffer, 2006, para. 8).

Four driving factors for NATO's increasing involvement can be traced. First, NATO's assumption that the collapse of the Taliban regime in late 2001 did not suffice to provide and maintain security in Afghanistan enabled the Alliance to increase its involvement (Stapleton & Keating, 2015). Thus, NATO assumed that long-term operations, such as reconstruction, development, and democratic state-building practices, would favour long-term stability in the country. Second, the US wanted to involve NATO more in Afghanistan for burden-sharing

purposes because the US had to divide its resources between Afghanistan and Iraq after the latter was invaded by the US in 2003 (Berdal, 2016, p. 164). In contrast with the Afghan War, the US could not rely on NATO for military assistance in Iraq since key US allies, such as France and Germany opposed the Iraq war (BBC News, 2003). In addition, the US could devote its military capacity in Afghanistan to combat operations instead of state-building and humanitarian operations, which were NATO's core missions. Relatedly, another driving factor is that the Alliance could enhance the legitimacy of the mission in Afghanistan, which had decreased since the invasion of Iraq (Garey, 2020, pp. 110-111). Fourth, NATO's first out-of-area mission in Afghanistan was aimed to prove the Alliance's relevance after the Cold War and to ensure the Alliance's survival. Already in 2002 at the Prague summit, NATO identified new security threats, such as "terrorism and the proliferation of weapons of mass destruction" (NATO, 2003, p. 29). Berdal (2016) explains this driving factor for NATO's increasing involvement as follows:

No longer held together by the unifying perception of a common Cold War threat, and with a more recent patchy record of operations in the Balkans to show for its efforts, NATO needed to prove its credibility. Assuming a greater role in Afghanistan came to be seen as the test of NATO's transformation in the face of changing security threats and risks that transcended the Euro-Atlantic area. (p. 175)

Despite NATO's increased involvement and troop deployment, the Alliance could not overcome key issues, which resulted in resurging violence across Afghanistan from 2006 on (Berdal, 2016, p. 165). In addition to burden-sharing issues, conflicting objectives between the US and the other NATO members were also a key issue: the former aimed to combat terrorism and the latter to engage in the state- and peacebuilding practices, which implicitly led to tensions within NATO (Gates, 2014, p. 203). Another issue was NATO's assumption that the resurgent Taliban regime was the main source of instability and security threats while ignoring deeprooted ethnic, and tribal rivalries and corruption (Berdal, 2016, p. 174). It can be considered that these issues have contributed to the war-weariness among NATO members and the ultimate troop withdrawal in 2014, but also another factor cannot be ignored: the return of the Russian threat (Berdal, 2016, pp. 176-177). For example, the Russo-Georgian War in 2008 reintroduced Russia as a common security threat to the Alliance, so out-of-area operations in Afghanistan would no longer be needed to justify NATO's continued existence (Dempsey, 2008).

When Obama took office in 2009, the new US president recognised the war-weary public and the need for renewed commitment to end the Afghan War. The US president announced that

troop deployment would be increased by 30,000 extra troops and that the transition of the responsibility for Afghanistan's national security to the ANDSF would begin in 2011 (Obama, 2009). Consequently, also NATO increased its number of troops and additionally established the NATO Training Mission in Afghanistan to make Afghan forces autonomously responsible for national security (NATO, 2021). In 2010 at the Lisbon summit, NATO announced that it would withdraw its troops by the end of 2014, marking the end of the ISAF mission and the beginning of the ANDSF's "full responsibility for security across the whole of Afghanistan" (NATO, 2010, para. 4). After ISAF's completion in 2014, NATO stayed present in Afghanistan during the Resolute Support Mission from 2015 until 2021. During this period, NATO deployed around 16,000 troops to provide continued training and assistance to the ANDSF, which were eventually defeated by the Taliban regime in 2021. The NATO-led evacuation in August 2021 marked the end of the Alliance's involvement in the country (NATO, 2021).

5.1.2 CSTO in Afghanistan

In contrast with NATO, the CSTO's involvement in Afghanistan has been low since 2001. Through the years, the Russian-led security organisation has expressed support for NATO's mission but also concerns over the probably unstable post-NATO security situation in the country, which may spill over to the broader Central Asian region. Thus, the CSTO has been focusing on the security of the Afghan-Tajik border, counterterrorist and antinarcotic operations without direct involvement on Afghan territory. The drivers for the CSTO's little involvement will be discussed in the following paragraphs.

Before the CSTO became an established regional organisation in 2002, CST member states had provided assistance to the Northern Alliance, which fought alongside the US to combat the Taliban in 2001 (Rozanov & Dovgan, 2010, pp. 13-14). This CST assistance enabled the anti-Taliban grouping to defeat the Taliban relatively rapidly, but the CST lacked the military and financial resources and the political will to make a large-scale contribution to the US military campaign. Nevertheless, CST member states permitted NATO to set up military bases on their territory and approved the ISAF mission (Kropatcheva, 2016, p. 1542). However, the extensive US military presence in Central Asia created division within the CSTO in the long term. Whereas Russia and Belarus considered the US to be increasing its power and influence in the region, the CARs welcomed the US since Russia could not give an alternative to the US to provide security in Afghanistan (Kropatcheva, 2016, p. 1543). As such, Russia's low

engagement in the Afghan conflict can be explained by the historical memory of the exhaustive Soviet-Afghan war, simultaneous military missions in Syria and Ukraine, and Russia's unstable economy (Weitz, 2018, p. 69).

Yet, from 2004 on, the CSTO has repeatedly proposed NATO to formally cooperate "in exchanging data of counter terrorism [sic] and drug trafficking in the post-Soviet space and conducting joint operations to suppress the activities of drug cartels" (Rozanov & Dovgan, 2010, p. 60). Cooperation between NATO and the CSTO could have increased the CSTO's power and legitimacy in the region since the Alliance would consider the CTSO as an equal actor in the international system. In addition, NATO-CSTO cooperation could have restricted the bilateral relations between NATO and CARs in the PfP-framework (Pop, 2009, p. 285). However, NATO has been reluctant to accept the proposal of the CSTO because the Alliance is more interested in its mission's effectiveness instead of the CSTO's desire for more legitimacy (Nikitina, 2012, p. 46). Ivo Daalder, US Permanent Representative to NATO, expressed this stance as follows:

it would be counterproductive for NATO to engage with the CSTO, an organization initiated by Moscow to counter potential NATO and U.S. influence in the former Soviet space. To date, the CSTO has proven ineffective in most areas of activity and has been politically divided. NATO engagement with the CSTO could enhance the legitimacy of what may be a waning organization. (Laumulin, 2012, para. 21)

Another driving factor for the CSTO's little involvement are the bloc's fundamental principles of respect for sovereignty and non-intervention in other states' domestic affairs (Jackson, 2014, p. 198; Karimov, 2021). Therefore, CSTO officials, such as former Secretary General of the CSTO Nikolay Bordyuzha, have explicitly stated that the organisation has no prospects for a military intervention in Afghanistan (Kropatcheva, 2016, p. 1543; Norberg, 2013, p. 32; Weitz, 2018, p. 68). Instead, the CSTO has focused on counternarcotics and counterterrorism operations to prevent drug traffickers and extremists from moving from Afghanistan to CSTO territory. Especially the vulnerable Afghan-Tajik border has urged the CSTO to take border security measures since Tajikistan is the only CSTO member state neighbouring Afghanistan (Kropatcheva, 2016, p. 1544; Rauf & Saud, 2020, p. 38; Weitz, 2018, p. 69). For example, the annual Operation Channel has been countering drug trafficking and terrorism from Afghanistan (Weitz, 2018, pp. 68-69). Between 2003 and 2019, Operation Channel stopped "385 tons of drugs, 14 thousand firearms and 392 ammunition" from crossing the Afghan border (Karimov,

2021). Because of the successful Operation Channel, the UN adopted a resolution that strengthens the formal ties with the CSTO by outlining UN-CSTO cooperation in countering terrorism and drug trafficking and referring to potential CSTO peacekeeping capacity for Afghanistan (Rozanov & Dovgan, 2010, p. 54).

The drawdown of NATO forces created a pessimist forecast within the CSTO for the situation in Afghanistan after 2014. Even though Afghanistan obtained the status of an observer state in the CSTO in 2013 in order to anticipate the drawdown of foreign forces, the CSTO stated that there had been little improvement in the combat against drug production, terrorism, and corruption and that the ANDSF was not capable yet to provide national security (CSTO, 2012; RIA Novosti, 2013). However, the CSTO has remained little engaged to improve this situation: since 2014, the bloc has mainly expressed concerns over the security threats coming from Afghanistan and support for multilateral and intra-Afghan peace talks (CSTO, 2014; CSTO, 2018; CSTO, 2020a; CSTO, 2020b). Since the US withdrawal in August 2021, the CSTO has reiterated its concerns over drugs trafficking, extremism, and the Afghan-Tajik border security (CSTO, 2021; Reuters, 2021; RFE/RL, 2021). In addition, the bloc has prohibited the presence of the US, NATO and Afghans that had cooperated with foreign forces on the bloc's territory (CSTO, 2021). Weitz (2018) summarises the CSTO's policy toward Afghanistan as follows: "the CSTO has focused on containing Afghan threats rather than solving them" (p. 68).

In sum, the driving factors for the CSTO's little involvement in Afghanistan are NATO's already existing large-scale military operation in the country, Russia's low engagement, NATO's reluctance to cooperate with the CSTO, and the highly-respected principle of non-intervention.

5.1.3 Theories in practice

The case study of Afghanistan confirms both hypotheses for NATO (H1 & H3). After the Cold War, the security threat from the Soviet Union disappeared, making NATO's continued existence hard to justify. Thus, the terrorist attacks of 9/11 creating a new common security threat scenario for NATO, drove the Alliance to become actively militarily involved in Afghanistan after 2001, and thus justified NATO's survival and relevance in the international system. However, as the international balance of power altered with the resurgence of a more assertive Russia, NATO shifted its focus from out-of-area operations back to its original

collective defence mission to face closer security threats, so the Alliance no longer needed outof-area operations to justify its survival in the anarchic international system. This driving factor explains the end of ISAF's mission in 2014 from a neo-realist perspective. Therefore, this case study confirms the neo-realist hypothesis (H1). The constructivist hypothesis (H3) can also be confirmed, as the Afghanistan case shows that NATO aimed at establishing democratic institutions and spreading liberal norms and values to improve the humanitarian situation and the state-building process since these liberal principles are believed to foster security. At the beginning of its mission, NATO upheld a narrative of unity and a collective identity, which explains NATO's active involvement in Afghanistan. However, as internal tensions and warweariness within the Alliance rose during the war, NATO became less involved by 2014.

With regard to the driving factors for the CSTO's involvement in Afghanistan, the neo-realist hypothesis (H2) can be rejected, whereas the constructivist hypothesis can be confirmed (H4). The case study has proven that the CSTO was not driven by the neo-realist assumption that the CSTO aimed to balance NATO and US military presence in Central Asia. Instead, the bloc has repeatedly expressed its support for the ISAF mission and has called for NATO-CSTO cooperation. The constructivist hypothesis, on the other hand, can be confirmed since the lack of a collective identity and the principle of non-intervention have driven the CSTO to be passive during the Afghan War, despite efforts to counter terrorism and drug trafficking on CSTO territory. Moreover, the historical memory of the Soviet-Afghan war still lingers on in Russia, which, among other factors, explains Russia's little engagement in the conflict.

5.2 Syria

As in the case study of Afghanistan, I will first provide an outline of the key events of the Syrian Civil War before I shed light on NATO's and the CSTO's involvement in the conflict. This outline is mainly based on 'Syria's Civil War: The Descent Into Horror' by Laub et al. (2021) on the website of the Council on Foreign Relations, unless cited otherwise.

Since 1970, Syria has been governed by the Shia-rooted al-Assad family. Hafez Assad was succeeded in 2000 by his son Bashar, who continued his father's autocratic and kleptocratic rule over the country. Through a transformation from a socialist economic system to a privatised liberal system, Bashar reformed the country's economy at the cost of the lower classes while benefitting those supporting the autocratic regime. The gap between the rich and the poor

widened, partly due to high rates of unemployment and the extreme drought between 2006 and 2010 (Baczko et al., 2017, p. 49). In addition, the US-imposed economic sanctions on Syria in 2004 as part of the war on terror, driven by suspicions that Syria supported terrorists, weakened the country's economy (BBC News, 2019). Together with ethnic clashes and an oppressive police force, these factors created the breeding ground for dissent and discontent among the Syrian population (Baczko et al., 2017). In March 2011, these domestic tensions culminated in a pro-democratic uprising in the city of Deraa, triggered by the Arab Spring which had started four months earlier in Tunisia and brought about pro-democratic protests across North Africa and the Middle East. Although the anti-regime protests in Syria were turned down violently by the police forces, the protests rapidly spread across the whole country. Dissatisfied with Assad's rule as well, former military officials defected from Assad's Syrian Arab Army (SAA) and established the Free Syrian Army (FSA) to counter the SAA, but the FSA lacked a centralised command structure to combat Assad effectively. This divide in the Syrian military apparatus and the subsequent civil war created ideal circumstances for other regional actors to become operational in Syria. For example, Islamist-jihadist groupings, such as Al-Qaeda and the Islamic State of Iraq and Syria (ISIS), emerged in the country and conducted brutal attacks on civilians. The emergence of these terrorist groups was stimulated by Assad, as he "wanted to present to the world a stark choice between his secular rule and a jihadi alternative" (Laub et al., 2021, para. 12). Another regional actor meddling in the Syrian civil war were the Kurds, which considered the war as an opportunity to establish an independent Kurdish state (Moodrick-Even Khen et al., 2019, pp. 7-8). In 2013, an attack with chemical weapons on the suburb of Ghouta was allegedly conducted by Assad's regime, which incentivised the US and its allies to launch a military intervention. However, there was a lack of evidence that the attack was carried out by the Syrian government, so the UNSC, blocked by Russia and China, did not approve a Western military intervention (Vukasovich & Dejanovich-Vukasovich, 2016, p. 314).

By 2013, the conflict became increasingly internationalised, as both Assad's side and the opposition received backing from foreign powers. On the one hand, Assad was supported by Shiite Iran and its allied Lebanese militant group Hezbollah because Iran aimed to prevent Syria from possibly becoming closer to the country's rival Saudi Arabia. As Sunni Islamist-jihadist groupings emerged, Tehran feared that the state of anarchy in Syria could create ideal circumstances for these groups to seize power (Laub, 2017). Assad was also supported by Russia, but Russia's interests and involvement will be further elaborated on in the section on the CSTO below. On the other hand, opposition forces were backed by the West, which will be

discussed in detail in the following section on NATO. By 2019, Assad's SAA succeeded in reestablishing control over most of the country with the help of Russia and Iran, as ISIS had lost its power and the US had announced a gradual drawdown of troops.

After the UN-led Geneva Conference on Syria had failed to come to a peaceful agreement, peace talks between Iran, Russia, Turkey, and Syria started during the 2017 Astana talks, thus excluding the US and the UN, but the outcome also turned out to be ineffective. Another diplomatic initiative to settle the conflict has been the UN-led Syrian Constitutional Committee (SCC), but the SCC has not agreed on a settlement yet, partly because of delays due to the coronavirus pandemic. Thus far, none of these diplomatic efforts has come to a sustainable political settlement of the conflict, while President Assad has extended his presidency with a fourth term in 2021.

5.2.1 NATO in Syria

In contrast with the conflict in Afghanistan, NATO has not been actively involved in the Syrian Civil War. Although some NATO allies had incentives to intervene in the country, it never came this far because the Alliance lacked international support and internal cohesion.

As the anti-regime protests became more violent and deadly, the US, France, and the UK, supported by Germany and Portugal, proposed in October 2011 sanctions against the Assad regime to the UNSC based on the Responsibility to Protect (R2P) doctrine, which had been used before during the NATO intervention in Libya in 2011 (Bandeira, 2018a, p. 119). The R2P doctrine means that states are not only responsible for the protection of their own population, but that they are also collectively responsible to protect other states' populations against mass atrocities, such as "genocide, war crimes, ethnic cleansing and crimes against humanity" (UN General Assembly, 2005, p. 30). NATO's intervention in Libya, however, left the country after the autocratic Gaddafi regime in a disastrous state, which made non-Western states doubtful of the R2P doctrine's effectiveness (Nuruzzaman, 2013, p. 65). Thus, Russia and China vetoed the UNSC resolution proposed by the West. Due to having no UN permission to intervene, the US, France and the UK provided military aid to anti-Assad jihadist rebels in secret (Ahmed, 2013; Bandeira, 2018b). The US created a 'rat line', i.e. "a channel to bring weapons and ammunition originating from Libya to Syria [...] in order to supply the *moderate rebels*, many of which [...] Jihadists and even al-Qa'ida militants" and trained the rebels to use antitank and

anti-aircraft weapons (Bandeira, 2018b, pp. 130-131). Together with the UK and France, the US provided military and logistical assistance and training to the opposition forces and conducted counterterrorism operations in collaboration with Bahrain, Jordan, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates (Loft et al., 2021, p. 4).

Two years later, in August 2013, a chemical weapons attack was conducted in Ghouta, which the US and its allies believed was carried out by the Assad regime. This incentivised the US to intervene in Syria in order to overthrow Assad and improve the humanitarian situation in the country, which would halt the ongoing refugee crisis, whereas some argue that continued access to oil and gas resources and the containment of Iran's power in the Middle East would be the real reasons behind a Western intervention (Ahmed, 2013; Bandeira, 2018b, p. 128; Laub, 2017). The investigators, however, never found evidence that Assad was responsible for the attack, which made the UNSC reluctant to approve a proposal for military intervention (Bandeira, 2018b, p. 127). Thus, the US and its allies had no UN support for its intervention and also domestic public support was small, partly because of 'intervention fatigue' after the costly military mission in Afghanistan (Kamp, 2014; Shea, 2014). Even within NATO, there was no support for an intervention without UNSC authorisation (Bandeira, 2018b, p. 134). Dingott Alkopher (2016, p. 64) has identified four main drivers for NATO's non-intervention in Syria in addition to the high costs of a military mission. First, legal and geopolitical reasons, such as the lack of UN authorisation, regional support and internal NATO support, hindered NATO to intervene. Second, Syria's refined air defence, chemical weapons, strong army, and challenging geography make the military-strategic situation of a potential intervention more complex than the intervention in Libya. Third, Assad is still supported by major powers, such as Russia and Iran, whereas Gaddafi did not receive international support. This further complicates the geopolitical situation and the regional balance of power. At last, no political alternative to Assad among the opposition has been presented since the Syrian opposition kept struggling in maintaining control. This also raised concerns about a potential post-intervention situation in Syria, by analogy with the 2011 intervention in Libya and its aftermath. Furthermore, President Assad accepted a Russian-brokered deal that allowed the inspection and elimination of Syrian chemical weapons by the Organisation for the Prohibition of Chemical Weapons (OPCW). This further discouraged NATO to intervene in Syria since the imminent threat of chemical weapons had formally disappeared (Bandeira, 2018b, p. 135). However, the US launched airstrikes in 2018 as a reaction to the alleged use of chemical weapons by Assad's regime in Douma (Loft et al., 2021, p. 5). To conclude, instead of a military intervention, NATO called for a diplomatic solution to the conflict and underlined Syria's own responsibility to its population to solve the crisis (Dingott Alkopher, 2018, p. 62; Joyner, 2013).

Yet, one NATO member has been engaged in carrying out military operations in Syria, namely Turkey. Turkey backs the opposition, aiming to prevent the Kurds from establishing autonomy and to overthrow Assad's regime (Laub, 2017). Despite several calls to NATO for military assistance from its allies, Turkey has not received substantial military backing because other NATO members are reluctant to cooperate with President Erdogan because of his autocratic nature, his friendly ties with Russia's President Putin and Turkey's combat against the US-supported Kurds (The Economist, 2020). Within NATO, there is also no consensus on whether to normalise relations with the Assad regime or not (The Middle East Institute & ETANA Syria, 2020, p. 6). For example, former Soviet states are willing to improve their relations with Syria because of decade-long economic and political ties with the country.

5.2.2 CSTO in Syria

Whereas Russia has been actively involved in the Syrian Civil War, the Russian-led CSTO only expressed support for Russia's actions without deploying troops to Syria. As in Afghanistan, the regional security organisation values the principles of sovereignty and territorial integrity highly and lacks the organisational capacity to intervene, which explains the CSTO's non-intervention.

Assad was initially supported by Russia with diplomatic means and later with military assistance. At the beginning of the conflict, Moscow vetoed a UNSC resolution with punishing measures for Assad, claiming that Western intervention would worsen the situation in Syria as illustrated by NATO's 2011 intervention in Libya (Laub et al., 2021). After Russia's diplomatic support to Assad, Moscow militarily entered the conflict in September 2015 with the deployment of its air forces to combat Islamist-jihadist groupings (Ibryamova, 2021, p. 264). The intervention in Syria was the first military intervention outside the post-Soviet space after the implosion of the Soviet Union (Ibryamova, 2021, p. 264). Officially, the air operations targeted ISIS terrorists, but in fact, Russia's focus was also on bombing the anti-Assad forces and the airstrikes hit civilian targets too (Laub et al., 2021; Souleimanov & Dzutsati, 2018, p. 44). There are several drivers for Russia's involvement. First, material interests, such as the arms trade with Syria and the continued access to Russia's naval base in Tartus – Russia's only

military base in the Mediterranean Sea – can explain Moscow's involvement, although they are not sufficient (Allison, 2013; Ibryamova, 2021, p. 265; Rezvani, 2020, p. 894). Second, the naval base on the Mediterranean Sea can be considered a Russian geopolitical interest in the region. Moreover, the advancement of Russia's energy politics serves Moscow's geopolitical interests as well (Bandeira, 2018b, p. 135; Ibryamova, 2021, p. 263). As US power in the Middle East is eroding, the increased Russian military presence is in line with Moscow's objective of creating a multipolar international system, in which Russia acts as an equal international power (Allison, 2013; Freire & Heller, 2018, p. 1207; Ibryamova, 2021, p. 271). That is possible when the anti-Western Assad regime stays in power. Third, a potential regime toppling by the West might make Moscow anxious about potential "future external pressures which foreign states may exert for political change in Russia [itself] on the basis of claims that Putin and his entourage lack political legitimacy" (Allison, 2013, p. 819). Thus, balancing a Western intervention is another driver for Russia's active involvement. Finally, another crucial factor is the timing of Russia's increased involvement, namely after the annexation of Crimea and the subsequent international isolation by the West. It might be possible that Russia's involvement in Syria was aimed to divert international attention from the situation in Crimea and to partly break away from its international isolation since the West would have to cooperate with Russia about Syria (Freire & Heller, 2018, p. 1207; Souleimanov & Dzutsati, 2018, p. 43).

Despite Russia's active involvement, the CSTO has remained on the sidelines in the Syrian conflict. In general, the CSTO has supported Russia's actions in the civil war politically, which enhances the legitimacy of Russia's intervention, and has emphasised the importance of respect for Syria's sovereignty and territorial integrity (CSTO, 2017; Kropatcheva, 2016, p. 1532). On the military front, the CSTO did not assist Russia despite a 2017 alleged proposal to deploy Kazakh and Kyrgyz forces to Syria. Since Kazakhstan and Kyrgyzstan are "a Muslim country, not involved in the conflict and amenable to Moscow and Damascus' position", these two CSTO members would be suitable for monitoring the de-escalation zones in the country despite their small military capacity (Putz, 2017, para. 5). However, the Kazakh and Kyrgyz presidents later denied this proposal (Radio Azattyk, 2017).

5.2.3 Theories in practice

The two hypotheses on NATO (H1 & H3) can be rejected since NATO has not been driven by the hypothesised neo-realist and constructivist driving factors to become actively involved in Syria. Other factors, such as the lack of international support after NATO's intervention in Libya and the context of the exhaustive ISAF mission in Afghanistan, explain NATO's reluctance to become actively involved in the Syrian Civil War, although some NATO members unilaterally provided assistance to opposition forces and wanted to intervene. For example, it is argued that the US had incentives to intervene in order to contain Iranian influence in Syria and to guarantee continued access to energy sources. These are neo-realist driving factors, but they do not apply to NATO and it never came to an intervention. The neo-realist hypothesis (H1) can be countered by the fact that NATO did not need to search for a common security threat to justify the Alliance's survival because it had already found one in Afghanistan and more recently in Russia after the annexation of Crimea in 2014. Moreover, the balance of power in Syria was complicated by Russia's and Iran's support for the Assad regime. From a constructivist perspective, the lack of internal cohesion and a lacking collective identity with regard to the Syrian Civil War have driven NATO not to become involved in the Syrian Civil War because some NATO members were more reluctant to intervene than others. This reluctance was related to the memory of NATO's 2011 intervention in Libya and its disastrous post-intervention situation. This memory has also been the reason why the international community did not authorise a NATO intervention in Syria. Therefore, also the constructivist hypothesis (H3) can be rejected.

With regards to Russia, both neo-realist and constructivist driving factors account for the country's political and military involvement in Syria. Driven by balance of power politics and the structure of the international system, Russia aims to increase its influence in the Middle East and to counter the West in order to create a multipolar world order, in which Russia would play an equal role to the US. In addition to this neo-realist explanation, also constructivism explains Russia's intervention, in that Moscow desires to reassert its image and identity as a key player in the international system, as it was during the Cold War. However, this thesis aimed to explain the CSTO's involvement in Syria. As in the case study of Afghanistan, the constructivist hypothesis (H4) can be confirmed because the CSTO values the principle of non-intervention very highly and lacks internal cohesion, illustrated by the aforementioned proposal to deploy CSTO monitoring forces. On the other hand, the neo-realist hypothesis (H2) can be rejected since the CSTO was not driven by the objective to balance Western military presence, whereas Russia was. Therefore, the CSTO was not involved in Syria; it only supported Russia's intervention politically, thus making Russia's mission more legitimate.

6. Conclusion

This master's thesis aimed to analyse the driving factors explaining the extent of NATO's and the CSTO's involvement during the conflicts in Afghanistan and Syria after 2001. These driving factors have been interpreted from both a neo-realist and a constructivist perspective. This thesis has filled a theoretical gap by applying the neo-realist and constructivist theories to the two regional security organisations, which has been rare for the CSTO in particular.

After the Cold War, NATO's relevance became to be questioned since it no longer faced the Soviet security threat. The analysis has shown that the new terrorist threat after 9/11 united NATO and drove the Alliance to prove the relevance of its survival and thus became actively involved in Afghanistan conducting a large-scale military operation and spreading liberal norms and values with state-building purposes. As Russia challenged the European balance of power and the internal cohesion and collective identity of the Alliance came under pressure, NATO reduced its involvement in Afghanistan by 2014. These findings confirm existing literature on NATO (Flockhart, 2016; Hyde-Price, 2016). On the other hand, NATO did not become involved in Syria for the same reasons as for its drawdown in Afghanistan: Russia's support for Assad complicated the balance of power in Syria and NATO lacked internal cohesion because of disagreements on whether to intervene or not. In addition, the memory of the 2011 NATO intervention in Libya and its disastrous aftermath left the international community unwilling to authorise a NATO intervention in Syria.

In both Afghanistan and Syria, the CSTO remained passive because the bloc values the principles of non-intervention and respect for territorial integrity highly, partly due to the authoritarian nature of the member states' domestic regime. Contrary to prior research that asserted that the CSTO was established to balance the West (Greene, 2012; Guliyev & Gawrich, 2020), this thesis has found that the CSTO did not intend to balance the West, illustrated by the CSTO's support for NATO's ISAF mission in Afghanistan and repeated calls for NATO-CSTO cooperation. In Syria, the bloc expressed political support for Russia's intervention, but did not deploy troops to also militarily support Russia.

Concerning the limitations of this thesis, the two cases have been analysed from a neo-realist and constructivist perspective, but it is crucial to note that neither theory can solely account for NATO's and the CSTO's involvement, nor can a combination of the two provide a full

explanation of the outcome. Also situational, geopolitical, historical, organisational, and other driving factors should be taken into account to fully trace the process of the involvement of NATO and the CSTO in Afghanistan and Syria. However, due to time and place constraints, this was not possible. In addition, academic literature on the CSTO has been limited, which complicated the research process.

As significant events, such as the deployment of CSTO troops to Kazakhstan and the Russian invasion of Ukraine have unfolded in the course of 2022, it is interesting for future research to examine these events and their implications for NATO and the CSTO. Because research about the CSTO in English is scarce, the CSTO requires more research since the bloc could become an increasingly important regional security organisation in the future.

7. Bibliography

- Acharya, A. (2014). Thinking theoretically about Asian IR. In D. Shambaugh, & M. Yahuda (Eds.), *International Relations of Asia* (2nd ed., pp. 59-89). Rowman & Littlefield.
- Adler, E., & Barnett, M. (1998). Security communities in theoretical perspective. In E. Adler, & M. Barnett (Eds.), *Security Communities* (pp. 3-28). Cambridge University Press.
- Adler, E., & Greve, P. (2009). When security community meets balance of power: overlapping regional mechanisms of security governance. *Review of International Studies*, *35*(S1), 59–84. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0260210509008432
- Ahmed, N. (2013, August 30). Syria intervention plan fueled by oil interests, not chemical weapon concern. *The Guardian*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.theguardian.com/environment/earth-insight/2013/aug/30/syria-chemical-attack-war-intervention-oil-gas-energy-pipelines
- Allison, R. (2004). Regionalism, Regional Structures and Security Management in Central Asia. *International Affairs*, 80(3), 463–483. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2346.2004.00393.x
- Allison, R. (2013). Russia and Syria: explaining alignment with a regime in crisis. *International Affairs*, 89(4), 795–823. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2346.12046
- Baczko, A., Dorronsoro, G., Quesnay, A. (2017). The al-Assad System. In *Civil War in Syria* (pp. 45-64). Cambridge University Press.
- Ballegeer, A. (2018). De Collective Security Treaty Organisation: De Wederopstanding van het Warschaupact? [Master's thesis, Catholic University of Leuven]. Limo. Retrieved

- 18 April 2022, from https://repository-teneo-libis-be.kuleuven.e-bronnen.be/delivery/DeliveryManagerServlet?dps_pid=IE10648000&
- Bandeira, L. (2019a). Geopolitical Lessons Learnt and Not Learnt: The Case of Syria. In *The World Disorder* (pp. 113-126). Springer.
- Bandeira, L. (2019b). Chemical Weapons Attack in Ghouta as a Pretext for US Intervention. In *The World Disorder* (pp. 127-136). Springer.
- Barnett, M., & Adler, E. (1998). Studying security communities in theory, comparison, and history. In E. Adler, & M. Barnett (Eds.), *Security Communities* (pp. 413-441). Cambridge University Press.
- BBC News. (2003, March 5). *France and allies rally against war*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/world/middle_east/2821145.stm
- BBC News. (2019, January 14). *Syria profile Timeline*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-14703995
- Bebber, R. (2008). The Role of Provincial Reconstruction Teams (PRTs) in Counterinsurgency Operations: Khost Province, Afghanistan. *Small War Journal*. Retrieved 20 April 2022, from https://smallwarsjournal.com/jrnl/art/the-role-of-provincial-reconstruction-teams-in-counterinsurgency-operations
- Berdal, M. (2016). A Mission Too Far? NATO and Afghanistan, 2001–2014. In D. Marston, & T. Leahy (Eds.), War, Strategy and History: Essays in Honour of Professor Robert O'Neill (pp. 155-178). ANU Press. https://doi.org/10.22459/wsh.05.2016.11
- Berlinger, J. (2022, May 16). Finland and Sweden want to join NATO. Here's how it works and what comes next. CNN. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://edition.cnn.com/2022/05/14/europe/sweden-finland-nato-next-steps-intl/index.html
- Bilefsky, D., Pérez-Peña, R., & Nagourney, E. (2022, April 21). What Does Russia Want in Ukraine? A Full Guide. *The New York Times*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nytimes.com/article/russia-ukraine-nato-europe.html?action=click&state=default®ion=hub&context=storyline_hub&module=s tyln-russia-ukraine&variant=show&pgtype=LegacyCollection
- Böller, F. (2018). "Guardian of the international order"? NATO's contested identity, the discourses of Secretaries General, and the Ukraine crisis. *East European Politics*, 34(2), 217–237. https://doi.org/10.1080/21599165.2018.1458616

- Buzan, B., & Wæver, O. (2003). Theories and histories about the structure of contemporary international security. In *Regions and Powers: The Structure of International Security* (pp. 6-26). Cambridge University Press.
- Chappell, G., & Terlikowksi, M. (2012). Turkey in NATO and towards CSDP. *The Polish Quarterly of International Affairs*, 21(1), 141-156.
- Collier, D. (2011). Understanding Process Tracing. *PS: Political Science and Politics*, 44(04), 823–830. https://doi.org/10.1017/s1049096511001429
- Checkel J. (2008). Process Tracing. In A. Klotz, D. Prakash (Eds.), *Qualitative Methods in International Relations* (pp. 114-127). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Council on Foreign Relations. (n.d.). *The U.S. War in Afghanistan*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.cfr.org/timeline/us-war-afghanistan
- CSTO. (2012, December 20). Session of the Collective Security Council December 19, 2012.

 Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://en.odkbcsto.org/session/2012/session201212/?sphrase_id=78420#loaded
- CSTO. (2014, April 3). Zayavleniye ministrov inostrannyh del gosudarstv chljenov Organizatsii Dogovora o kollektivnoy bezopasnosti v svyazi s predstoyashimi vyborami v Afganistane [Press release]. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://odkb-csto.org/documents/statements/zayavlenie-ministrov.-inostrannykh-del.-gosudarstv-chlenov-organizatsii-dogovora-o-kollektivnoy-bezopa/#loaded
- CSTO. (2017, December 11). In the CSTO Secretariat commented on the decision of the President of the Russian Federation on the withdrawal of the group of Russian troops from Syria [Press release]. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://en.odkb-csto.org/presscenter/v_sekretariate_odkb_prokommentirovali_reshenie_prezidenta_ros siyskoy_federatsii_o_vyvode_gruppirovki-12256/?sphrase_id=81624#loaded
- CSTO. (2018, September 26). Sovmestnoye Zayableniye ministrov innostrnyh del gosudarstv chljenov Organizatsii Dogovora o kollektivnoy bezopasnosti o polozhenii v Afganistane, usilenii pozitsiy IGIL v severnyh provintsiyah strany I roste narkougrozy s territorii IRA [Press release]. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://odkb-csto.org/documents/statements/sovmestnoe-zayavlenie-ministrov-inostrannykh-delgosudarstv-chlenov-organizatsii-dogovora-o-kollekti../#loaded
- CSTO. (2020a, February 29). Sovmestnoye Zayavleniye gosudarstv chljenov Organizatsii Dogovora o kollektivnoy bezopasnosti o polozhenii v Afganistane [Press release].

 Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://odkb-

- csto.org/documents/statements/sovmestnoe-zayavlenie-gosudarstv-chlenovorganizatsii-dogovora-o-kollektivnoy-bezopasnosti-o-polozhe/#loaded
- CSTO. (2020b, December 1). Sovmestnoye Zayavleniye gosudarstv ministrov inostrannyh del gosudarstv chljenov Organizatsii Dogovora o kollektivnoy bezopasnosti o polozhenii v Afganistane [Press release]. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://odkb-csto.org/documents/statements/sovmestnoe-zayavlenie-Ministrov-inostrannyh-del-gosudarstv-chlenov-organizatsii-dogovora-o-kollekt/#loaded
- CSTO. (2021, September 15). Zayavleniye gosudarstv chljenov Organizatsii Dogovora o kollektivnoy bezopasnosti o polozhenii v Afganistane [Press release]. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://odkb-csto.org/documents/statements/zayavlenie-gosudarstv-chlenov-organizatsii-dogovora-o-kollektivnoy-bezopasnosti-o-polozhenii-v-afgan/#loaded
- Czerewacz-Filipowicz, K., & Konopelko, A. (2017). The Commonwealth of Independent States. In *Regional Integration Processes in the Commonwealth of Independent States* (pp. 19-32). Springer.
- de Hoop Scheffer, J. (2006, November 29). *Closing press conference* [Speech]. NATO.

 Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nato.int/docu/speech/2006/s061129d.htm
- Dempsey, J. (2008, September 3). War in Georgia exposes NATO's fault lines. *The New York Times*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nytimes.com/2008/09/03/world/europe/03iht-letter.1.15864788.html?searchResultPosition=1
- Deutsch, K., Burrell, S., Kann, R., & Lee, M., Jr. (1957). Introduction. In *Political Community and the North Atlantic Area* (pp. 3–21). Princeton U.P.
- Dingott Alkopher, T. (2015). From Kosovo to Syria: the transformation of NATO Secretaries General's discourse on military humanitarian intervention. *European Security*, 25(1), 49–71. https://doi.org/10.1080/09662839.2015.1082128
- Dunne, T., & Schmidt, B. (2014). Chapter 6: Realism. In J. Baylis, S. Smith, & P. Owens (Eds.), *The Globalization of World Politics: An introduction to international relations* (6th ed., pp. 99-112). Oxford University Press.
- FBI. (2016). *9/11 Investigation*. Federal Bureau of Investigation. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from https://www.fbi.gov/history/famous-cases/911-investigation
- Flockhart, T. (2016). Understanding NATO through constructivist theorising. In A. Hyde-Price, & M. Webber (Eds.), *Theorising NATO* (pp. 140–160). Routledge.

- Freire, M., & Heller, R. (2018). Russia's Power Politics in Ukraine and Syria: Status-seeking between Identity, Opportunity and Costs. *Europe-Asia Studies*, 70(8), 1185–1212. https://doi.org/10.1080/09668136.2018.1521914
- Garey, J. (2020). September 11, 2001, and the War in Afghanistan. In *The US Role in NATO's Survival After the Cold War* (pp. 83-122). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gates, R. (2015). Good War, Bad War. In *Duty: Memoires of a Secretary at War* (pp. 197-238). Vintage Books.
- George, A., & Bennett, A. (2005). Chapter 10 Process-Tracing and Historical Explanation. In *Case Studies and Theory Development in the Social Sciences* (pp. 141-163). MIT Press.
- Gibler, D., & Sewell, J. (2006). External Threat and Democracy: The Role of NATO Revisited. *Journal of Peace Research*, 43(4), 413–431. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343306065115
- Glasser, S. (2001, September 26). Russia Says U.S. May Use Facilities in Tajikistan. *The Washington Post*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.washingtonpost.com/archive/politics/2001/09/26/russia-says-us-may-use-facilities-in-tajikistan/e3b80d86-0da0-4881-9b9e-d024c7275dd2/
- Gleason, G., & Dunay, P. (2022, February 8). *CSTO Deployment in Kazakhstan: Strategic Shift or Political Consolidation?* The Diplomat. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://thediplomat.com/2022/02/csto-deployment-in-kazakhstan-strategic-shift-orpolitical-consolidation/
- Goldbaum, C. (2021, November 27). Afghan Economy Nears Collapse as Pressure Builds to Ease U.S. Sanctions. *The New York Times*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nytimes.com/2021/11/27/world/asia/afghanistan-economy-collapse-sanctions.html
- Greene, J. (2012, June). *Russian Responses to NATO and EU Enlargement and Outreach*. Chatham House.
- Guliyev, F., & Gawrich, A. (2020). NATO vs. the CSTO: security threat perceptions and responses to secessionist conflicts in Eurasia. *Post-Communist Economies*, *33*(2–3), 283–304. https://doi.org/10.1080/14631377.2020.1800316
- Henley, J., & Rankin, J. (2021, October 8). Polish court rules EU laws incompatible with its constitution. *The Guardian*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/oct/07/polish-court-rules-that-eu-laws-incompatible-with-its-constitution

- Herd, G., & Kriendler, J. (2013). NATO in an age of uncertainty: structural shifts and transatlantic bargains? In G. Herd, & J. Kriendler (Eds.), *Understanding NATO in the* 21st Century (pp. 1–15). Taylor & Francis.
- Herd, G., Kriendler, J, Wittmann, K. (2013). NATO's Genesis and adaptation: from Washington to Chicago. In G. Herd, & J. Kriendler (Eds.), *Understanding NATO in the 21st Century* (pp. 16–32). Taylor & Francis.
- Holmberg, A. (2011). The changing role of NATO: exploring the implications for security governance and legitimacy. *European Security*, 20(4), 529–546. https://doi.org/10.1080/09662839.2011.625929
- Hopkins, V., & Kramer, A. (2022, February 22). Why Donetsk and Luhansk, in Donbas Region, Matter in Ukraine. *The New York Times*. Retrieved 10 May 2022, from https://www.nytimes.com/2022/02/21/world/europe/donetsk-luhansk-donbas-ukraine.html
- Human Rights Watch. (2020, October 28). *Kosovo: Failure of NATO, U.N. to Protect Minorities*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.hrw.org/news/2004/07/26/kosovo-failure-nato-un-protect-minorities
- Hyde-Price, A. (2016). NATO and the European security system: a neo-realist analysis. In A. Hyde-Price, & M. Webber (Eds.), *Theorising NATO* (pp. 41–60). Routledge.
- Ibryamova, N. (2021). Russia's expanding role in the eastern Mediterranean: opportunities and challenges. In R. Kanet, & D. Moulioukova (Eds.), *Russia and the World in the Putin Era* (pp. 260-275). Routledge.
- Jackson, N. (2014). Trans-Regional Security Organisations and Statist Multilateralism in Eurasia. Europe-Asia Studies, 66(2), 181–203. https://doi.org/10.1080/09668136.2013.866757
- Joyner, J. (2013, June 6). *Why NATO Won't Intervene in Syria*. Atlantic Council. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/blogs/new-atlanticist/why-nato-wont-intervene-in-syria/
- Kamp, K. (2014, July). Five Long-Term Challenges for NATO beyond the Ukraine Crisis.
 Research Division NATO Defense College. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.files.ethz.ch/isn/182781/2014Jul22_Report_Ukraine_DrKamp.pdf
- Karimov, N. (2021, January 25). Effectiveness of the CSTO in the context of the changing regional security system. CABAR.Asia. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://cabar.asia/en/effectiveness-of-the-csto-in-the-context-of-the-changing-regional-security-system

- Katzman, K., & Thomas, C. (2017, December). Afghanistan: Post Taliban Governance, Security, and U.S. Policy. Congressional Research Service. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA588708
- Kirchner, E., & Dominguez, R. (2013). Security governance in a comparative regional perspective. *European Security*, *23*(2), 163–178. https://doi.org/10.1080/09662839.2013.846327
- Kornilenko, A. (2020). Mirotvorchesky potentsial Organizatsii Dogovora o kollektivnoy bezopasnosti. *Vestnik RUDN*, 20(4), 707–720. https://doi.org/10.22363/2313-0660-2020-20-4-707-720
- Kreps, S. (2011). Afghanistan: The Mission Determines the Coalition. *Coalitions of Convenience*, 92–113. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199753796.003.0006
- Kropatcheva, E. (2016). Russia and the Collective Security Treaty Organisation: Multilateral Policy or Unilateral Ambitions? *Europe-Asia Studies*, 68(9), 1526–1552. https://doi.org/10.1080/09668136.2016.1238878
- Laub, Z. (2017, April 28). *Who's Who in Syria's Civil War*. Council on Foreign Relations. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.cfr.org/backgrounder/whos-who-syrias-civil-war
- Laub, Z., Maizland, L., & Robinson, K. (2021, March 17). *Syria's Civil War*. Council on Foreign Relations. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.cfr.org/article/syriascivil-war
- Laumulin, M. (2012, October 7). *Virtual Security of Central Asia*. Russia in Global Affairs. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://eng.globalaffairs.ru/articles/virtual-security-of-central-asia/
- Levy, J. (2002). War and Peace. In W. Carlsnaes, T. Risse, & B. Simmons (Eds.), *Handbook of International Relations* (pp. 350-368). Sage.
- Lindley-French, J. (2013). Pulling Together?: NATO operations in Afghanistan. In G. Herd, & J. Kriendler (Eds.), *Understanding NATO in the 21st Century* (pp. 119–134). Taylor & Francis.
- Lippert, T. H. (2019). *NATO*, *Climate Change*, and *International Security*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Loft, P., Harding, M., Sturge, G. (2021). *The Syrian civil war: Timeline and statistics*. The House of Commons Library. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-9381/

- Mackinnon, A. (2022, January 14). Kazakhstan Unrest: What Is the CSTO. *Foreign Policy*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://foreignpolicy.com/2022/01/07/kazakhstan-russian-alliance-collective-security-treaty-organization/
- Mansbach, R., & Taylor, K. (2017). Theoretical approaches to global politics. In *Introduction to Global Politics* (3rd ed., 2-29). Routledge.
- Moodrick-Even Khen, H., Boms, N., & Ashraph, S. (2019). Introduction: an Overview of Stakeholders and Interests. In *The Syrian War: Between Justice and Political Reality* (pp. 1-8). Cambridge University Press.
- Müller, H. (2002). Security Cooperation. In W. Carlsnaes, T. Risse, & B. Simmons (Eds.), *Handbook of International Relations* (pp. 369-391). Sage.
- NATO. (1949, April 4). *The North Atlantic Treaty*. Retrieved 10 April 2022, from https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/official_texts_17120.htm
- NATO. (1991). *The Alliance's New Strategic Concept (1991)*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/official_texts_23847.htm
- NATO. (2003). *The Prague Summit and NATO's Transformation*. Retrieved 20 April 2022, from https://www.nato.int/docu/rdr-gde-prg/rdr-gde-prg-eng.pdf
- NATO. (2009, February 27). *Riga Summit Declaration* [Press release]. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nato.int/docu/pr/2006/p06-150e.htm
- NATO. (2010, October 20). *Lisbon Summit Declaration* [Press release]. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/official_texts_68828.htm
- NATO. (2020a). *Member countries*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics_52044.htm
- NATO. (2020b). Signatures of Partnership for Peace Framework Document (country, name & date). Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics_82584.htm
- NATO. (2021). *ISAF's mission in Afghanistan (2001–2014) (Archived)*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natolive/topics_69366.htm
- NATO. (2022). *NATO's Senior Civilian Representative in Afghanistan (Archived)*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.nato.int/cps/en/natohq/topics_50096.htm#:%7E:text=The%20current%20 Senior%20Civilian%20Representative,airlift%20efforts%20operations%20in%20history

- Nikitina, Y. (2012). The Collective Security Treaty Organization Through the Looking Glass. *Problems of Post-Communism*, 59(3), 41–52. https://doi.org/10.2753/ppc1075-8216590304
- Norberg, J. (2013, May). *High Ambitions, Harsh Realities: Gradually Building the CSTO's Capacity for Military Intervention in Crises*. FOI Russia Studies Programme.
- Nuruzzaman, M. (2013). The "Responsibility to Protect" Doctrine: Revived in Libya, Buried in Syria. *Insight Turkey*, *15*(2), 57-66. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.insightturkey.com/commentaries/the-responsibility-to-protect-doctrine-revived-in-libya-buried-in-syria
- Obama, B. (2013, April 29). Remarks by the President on a New Strategy for Afghanistan and Pakistan [Speech]. The White House. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/the-press-office/remarks-president-a-new-strategy-afghanistan-and-pakistan
- Politi, J., & Manson, K. (2021, September 13). Blinken defends US military's chaotic Afghanistan withdrawal. *Financial Times*. Retrieved 28 May 2022, from https://www.ft.com/content/0102e411-0edd-45a5-a05a-85632d5397c7
- Pop, I. (2009). Russia, EU, NATO, and the strengthening of the CSTO in Central Asia. *Caucasian Review of International Affairs*, *3*(3), 278-290. questions. *Goettingen Journal of International Law*, *1*(2), 341-364.
- Putz, C. (2017, June 23). *Russia Proposes Deploying Kazakhs and Kyrgyz to Syria*. The Diplomat. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://thediplomat.com/2017/06/russia-proposes-deploying-kazakhs-and-kyrgyz-to-syria/
- Radio Azattyk. (2017, June 23). *Astana otvergaet peregovory ob otpravke voysk v Siriyu*.

 Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://rus.azattyq.org/a/astana-peregovory-voennye-syria/28574582.html
- Ratti, L. (2009). Back to the Future? *International Journal: Canada's Journal of Global Policy Analysis*, 64(2), 399–422. https://doi.org/10.1177/002070200906400206
- Rauf, S., & Saud, A. (2020). Prospects of CSTO and SCO in Regional Politics of Central Asia. *International Journal of Politics and Security*, 2(4), 30-50.
- Rezvani, B. (2020). Russian foreign policy and geopolitics in the Post-Soviet space and the Middle East: Tajikistan, Georgia, Ukraine and Syria. *Middle Eastern Studies*, *56*(6), 878–899. https://doi.org/10.1080/00263206.2020.1775590
- Reuters. (2021, August 28). Russia wants CSTO security alliance to boost cooperation over Afghanistan. *Reuters*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from

- https://www.reuters.com/world/russia-wants-csto-security-alliance-boost-cooperation-over-afghanistan-2021-08-28/
- RFE/RL. (2021, July 7). *Tajikistan Reportedly Calls On Allies For Help With Security Challenges From Afghanistan*. RadioFreeEurope/RadioLiberty. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.rferl.org/a/tajikistan-csto-help-afghanistan/31346198.html
- RIA Novosti. (2013, April 11). *Afganistan i Serbiya stali nablyudatelyami pri PA ODKB*. Retrieved 17 May, from https://ria.ru/20130411/932140328.html
- Rozanov, A., & Dovgan, E. (2010, June). *Collective Security Treaty Organisation 2002–2009*. Geneva Centre for the Democratic Control of Armed Forces. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.dcaf.ch/collective-security-treaty-organisation-2002-2009
- Sauer, T. (2016). The Origins of the Ukraine Crisis and the Need for Collective Security between Russia and the West. *Global Policy*, 8(1), 82-91. https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-5899.12374
- Schimmelfennig, F. (1998). Nato enlargement: A constructivist explanation. *Security Studies*, 8(2–3), 198–234. https://doi.org/10.1080/09636419808429378
- Schnaufer II, T. (2021, January 19). *The US-NATO Relationship: The Cost of Maintaining Political Pressure on Allies*. Georgetown Journal of International Affairs. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://gjia.georgetown.edu/2021/01/15/the-us-nato-relationship-the-cost-of-maintaining-political-pressure-on-allies/
- Schmitt, M. (2019). The North Atlantic Alliance and collective defence at 70: confession and response revisited. *Emory International Law Review, 34*, 85–120.
- Simon, J. (2009). NATO's Uncertain Future: Is Demography Destiny? *Joint Force Quarterly*, 53, 51-58. https://ndupress.ndu.edu/portals/68/Documents/jfg/JFQ-53.pdf
- Sipress, A., & Finn, P. (2001, November 30). U.S. Says 'Not Yet' To Patrol Allies. *The Washington Post*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.washingtonpost.com/archive/politics/2001/11/30/us-says-not-yet-to-patrol-allies/62576f31-fdd5-486f-b0e5-82e6e7d879ed/
- Sjursen, H. (2004). On the identity of NATO. *International Affairs*, 80(4), 687–703. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2346.2004.00411.x
- Souleimanov, E., & Dzutsati, V. (2018). Russia's Syria War: A Strategic Trap? *Middle East Policy*, 25(2), 42–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/mepo.12341
- Shea, J. (2014). NATO's Future Strategy: Ready for the Threats of the Future or Refighting the Battles of the Past?. In L. Odgaard (Ed.), *Strategy in NATO: Preparing for an Imperfect World* (pp. 27-41). Palgrave Macmillan.

- Spassov, P. (2014). NATO, Russia and European Security: Lessons Learned from Conflicts in Kosovo and Libya. *Connections: The Quarterly Journal*, *13*(3), 21-40. http://dx.doi.org/10.11610/Connections.13.3.02
- Stapleton, B., & Keating, M. (2015, July). *Military and Civilian Assistance to Afghanistan* 2001–14: An Incoherent Approach. Chatham House. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/field/field_document/20150722MilitaryCivilianAssistanceAfghanistanStapletonKeating.pdf
- Sukhankin, S. (2022, April 4). *Where Does Central Asia Stand on Russia's War in Ukraine?*Politics Today. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://politicstoday.org/central-asia-russia-ukraine-war-kazakhstan-tajikistan-kyrgyzstan/
- The Economist. (2020, 7 March). An ally in need, 11-12.
- The Middle East Institute, & ETANA Syria. (2020, November). *The Consequences of Inaction: US and NATO Syria policy*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.mei.edu/publications/consequences-inaction-us-and-nato-syria-policy
- UN General Assembly. (2005, September 16). Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 16 September 2005 (A/Res/60/1). Retrieved 17 May 2022, from https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/migration/generalassembly/docs/globalcompact/A_RES_60_1.pdf
- UNSC. (2001, September 28). Resolution adopted by the Security Council at its 4385th meeting, on 28 September 2001 (S/Res/1373 (2001)). Retrieved 29 May 2022, from https://www.unodc.org/pdf/crime/terrorism/res_1373_english.pdf
- US Department of State. (n.d.). *The Warsaw Treaty Organization, 1955*. Office of the Historian. Retrieved May 17 2022, from https://history.state.gov/milestones/1953-1960/warsaw-treaty
- Vaal, T. (2022, January 11). Russian troops to quit Kazakhstan, says president, taking aim at the elite. *Reuters*. Retrieved May 17, 2022, from https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/kazakhstan-detains-almost-10000-over-deadly-unrest-2022-01-11/
- Vestenskov, D., & Wille-Jørgensen, L. (2014). When Strategy Ends. In L. Odgaard (Ed.), Strategy in NATO: Preparing for an Imperfect World (pp. 127-140). Palgrave Macmillan.
- Vukasovich, C., & Dejanovic-Vukasovich, T. (2016). 'Humanitarian intervention', a predictable narrative? A comparative analysis of media narratives from Serbia to Syria. *Global Media and Communication*, *12*(3), 311–331. https://doi.org/10.1177/1742766516653163

- Wallander, C. (2000). Institutional Assets and Adaptability: NATO After the Cold War. *International Organization*, *54*(4), 705–735.

 https://doi.org/10.1162/002081800551343
- Waltz, K. (1979). Political Structures. In *Theory of International Politics* (pp. 79-101). Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- Wendt, A. (1992). Anarchy is what states make of it: the social construction of power politics.

 *International Organization, 46(2), 391–425.

 https://doi.org/10.1017/s0020818300027764
- Weiffen, B., Gawrich, A., & Axyonova, V. (2020). Reorganizing the Neighborhood? Power Shifts and Regional Security Organizations in the Post-Soviet Space and Latin America. *Journal of Global Security Studies*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1093/jogss/ogz080
- Weitz, R. (2018, October). Assessing the Collective Security Treaty Organization: capabilities and vulnerabilities. Strategic Studies Institute and U.S. Army War College Press. Retrieved 17 May, from https://press.armywarcollege.edu/monographs/390/
- Williams, M., & Neumann, I. (2000). From Alliance to Security Community: NATO, Russia, and the Power of Identity. *Millennium: Journal of International Studies*, 29(2), 357–387. https://doi.org/10.1177/03058298000290020801
- Yackley, A. (2022, May 25). Turkey will not be 'rushed' to back Nato expansion ahead of summit. *Financial Times*. Retrieved 28 May 2022, from https://www.ft.com/content/cd946caf-6117-459c-8107-6b61518a5981
- Zucchino, D., & Akbary, Y. (2022, January 26). Threatened and Beaten, Afghan Women
 Defy Taliban With Protests. *The New York Times*. Retrieved 17 May 2022, from
 https://www.nytimes.com/2022/01/24/world/asia/afghan-women-taliban-protests.html